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HEARING ON HIGHER EDUCATION: "WHO
PLAYS, WHO PAYS, WHO GOES."

TUESDAY, APRIL 23, 1996

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, SUBCOMMITTEE ON POST-
SECONDARY EDUCATION, TRAINING AND LIFE-LONG
LEARNING, COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC AND EDU-
CATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES, Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 1 p.m., Room 2175,
Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Howard P. McKeon, Chair-
man, presiding.

Members present: Representatives McKeon, Gunderson, Petri,
Green, and Woolsey.

Also present: Representatives Castle and Graham.
Staff present: George Conant, Professional Staff Member; Sally

Stroup, Professional Staff Member; Mary Ann Fitzgerald, Legisla-
tive Assistant; Christine Treadway, Legislative Associate; and Mar-
shall Grigsby, Senior Legislative Associate.

Chairman MCKEON. Good afternoon. I'd like to take a moment
to welcome our witnesses and those who are here today for today's
hearings on higher education: "Who Plays, Who Pays, and Who
Goes." This hearing will provide a broad overview of the current
state of higher education in this country and will provide a founda-
tion for future hearings on more specific higher education topics.

Today's hearing will focus on the following: what it costs to go
to college, who is going to college, what kind of financial aid is
available, who receives financial aid, how financial aid is distrib-
uted among private versus public colleges and dependent versus
independent students, the types of programs that are eligible for
Federal financial aid, and the role of the college financial aid offi-
cer.

We will be hearing from Assistant Secretary David Longanecker,
who heads up the Office of Postsecondary Education at the Depart-
ment of Education. Mr. Longanecker will provide us with informa-
tion on how schools become and remain eligible for financial aid
programs, how the accreditation process works and the role of the
Department in determining eligibility and interacting with
accreditors.

In addition, Mr. John B. Childers, Vice President for Regions and
Government Relations for The College Board will report on the
findings of The College Board's College Trend Cost Study, and will
talk about trends in higher education costs.

Ms. Margot A. Schenet, Specialist in Social Legislation at the
Congressional Research Office, will be presenting information on

(1)
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student enrollment, the availability of financial aid, and who re-
ceives financial aid.

Doctor Michael Nettles, Professor of Education at the University
of Michigan and the recently-appointed Director of the United
Negro College Funds Pattern Research Institute, will provide infor-
mation on trends in student enrollment, including low-income and
minority-student participation.

And, finally, Mr. Tom Rutter, Director of Financial Aid at San
Francisco State University, will testify on the role of financial aid
administrators, specifically, addressing what they do when a stu-
dent comes to them in need of financial aid, decisions they make
when packaging aid, how they determine which students receive
campus-based aid, what institutional factors impact their decisions,
and how professional judgment is involved in the aid process.

As we prepare for the authorization of the Higher Education Act,
we share the goals of students and parents across the Nation.
Quite simply, we want a simple, efficient, less-expensive and less-
bureaucratic system of student aid, a student aid system which is
easy for students and parents to understand and to use, a system
that ensures that students have the information to select the edu-
cation and the financing which best fits their needs, and a system
that ensures that taxpayers are getting their money's worth.

To achieve these goals, we must have a clear picture of what is
happening in higher education today. This panel will help paint
that picture, and I look forward to hearing from all of you.

I apologize that we don't have more Members here today, but due
to the move of votes from 12 to 5 we understood that some Mem-
bers moved back their plane flights and I didn't want to postpone
the hearing, knowing that some of you had already, you know,
made plans and probably were in the air on the way here when we
heard about this. So, we will go forward with this, and the record
will be available to all the Members to study. It's an important
issue, one that we really want to move forward on.

I know as I talk to people in my visits home and around the
country, this is a very important issue, and I think that it's getting
bigger, rather than getting smaller, and it's one that I'm looking
forward to getting involved with as we move forward.

Chairman McKE0N. Let's begin with Mr. Longanecker, please.

STATEMENT OF DAVID A. LONGANECKER, ASSISTANT
SECRETARY FOR POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION

Mr. LONGANECKER. Mr. Chairman, for the record, I'm Dave
Longanecker. I'm the Assistant Secretary for Postsecondary Edu-
cation. I would like to mention that I'm accompanied today by Eliz-
abeth Hicks, who is our Deputy Assistant Secretary for Student Fi-
nancial Assistance. Betsy is sitting behind me, and, in fact, if some
of the questioning gets real hard I might turn the difficult ones
over to her.

I've submitted a complete text of my remarks for the record, but
to be respectful of your time what I'll do is summarize those re-
marks briefly here.

I would tell you I'm a little bit envious of my colleagues who are
sitting here, because in many respects they have the more exciting
things to talk about today. However, what I'll be talking about in
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some respects isn't as exciting but it's awfully important, and that
is assuring that those funds that are going out are being well spent
and appropriately, and that we're being appropriate stewards and
good stewards of those funds.

So, it's a pleasure to appear before you and share with you, as
you requested, how postsecondary institutions become and remain
eligible to participate in the Federal student financial aid programs
that are part of Title IV of the Higher Education Act.

We hope that this will be the first of many productive discussions
with you and your committee, as we jointly look for ways to better
serve students in the future, while also assuring that we do so with
a set of programs that demonstrate the highest levels of fiscal and
administrative integrity and oversight.

This afternoon, I'm going to explain the eligibility and certifi-
cation requirements. I will discuss how tougher standards and
more attentive oversight within the Department are repeating the
intended results, and then finally, I'll share with you the work
we've done to adopt a fundamentally different and we think much
better approach to the future of oversight.

There are approximately 7,000 postsecondary institutions partici-
pating in Federal student assistance programs. About half of those
are colleges, about half of those are proprietary schools. They dis-
burse about $40 billion in Federal student aid in any one year.

To participate in these programs, an institution must meet three
conditions. First, it must be licensed to operate in the State in
which it is located. Second, it must be accredited by a federally-ap-
proved accrediting agency. And, finally, it obviously must be cer-
tified to operate by the Department.

Now, States determine the standards used for licensing and ap-
proving institutions, and those standards vary considerably from
State to State.

Accrediting, on the other hand, is more closely monitored at the
Federal level. Accrediting agencies are private, non-governmental
organizations that evaluate educational quality, emphasizing the
curriculum, faculty, educational outcomes, support services and the
ability of the institution, basically, to carry out its mission.

The amendments of 1992 to the Higher Education Act strengthen
the requirements on these accrediting agencies substantially, and
specify 12 specific areas in which they must develop standards.
This is, obviously, a very serious business, because if an institution
loses its accreditation it automatically loses its Title IV eligibility
and access, obviously, for students to Federal student financial as-
sistance.

The Department is responsible for evaluating compliance of these
accrediting agencies with the Federal law. We do so by evaluating
written material that they provide to us, by conducting site visits
of the agencies, by accompanying the agencies on their site visits
of institutions, and by conducting file reviews of the files of those
agencies.

In addition to our activities in monitoring this, we are assisted
by the National Advisory Committee on Institutional Quality and
Integrity, the role of which was substantially enhanced by the 1992
amendments. This is really a sterling group of individuals who
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have proven extremely helpful in advising the Secretary on wheth-
er and how accrediting agencies should be recognized.

There were concerns in Congress and elsewhere, about whether
these accrediting agencies were adequately insuring quality edu-
cation, that led to the much more directive role that is reflected in
the 1992 amendments.

The Department shares similar concerns, both under the last ad-
ministration and under the current one, but I want to tell you that
we are quite pleased with the response today from these accredit-
ing agencies. Although we certainly continue to have some concerns
regarding some agencies about their ability and willingness to en-
force high standards, high performance standards, we witnessed
substantial improvement and we are convinced that these private
organizations are much better suited to assessing educational capa-
bility than the Federal Government would be.

If an institution is approved and accredited, then it can apply for
eligibility and certification by the Department. To be certified, the
institution must demonstrate that it meets, basically, twothe law
establishes two areas we have responsibility for, must demonstrate
that it meets high standards of financial responsibility and that it
has the administrative capability of operating the programs. This
is certainly not an automatic step, though, it in many respects used
to be. In 1990, only 16.6 percent of the applications that we re-
ceived we rejected. This last year, in 1995, 40 percent of the appli-
cations were rejected. Furthermore, the sheer number of the initial
applications has declined by more than 50 percent since 1991, indi-
cating that institutions realize that they have to be able to achieve
high standards to participate in this program.

This is important, because we found that many, if not most, of
the institutions that got in trouble, in fact, probably never should
have been admitted to the program in the first place.

When an institution seeks initial eligibility and meets the stand-
ards, it's granted a provisional certification. Now, provisional cer-
tification, incidentally, was another important improvement that
came out of the 1992 amendments. We didn't have provisional cer-
tification before that. It allows the Department to allow new and
marginal institutions to remain eligible, but also allows the Depart-
ment to remove these institutions from participation rapidly, if
their capacity to serve their students and the Federal purposes de-
teriorates.

After the first full year of operation, a new institution is re-
viewed, and at that point they are either granted full certification,
they are granted continued provisional certification, or they are ter-
minated from the program. So, that's how we treat a new institu-
tion that comes and wishes to participate.

Now, fully certified institutions must also follow certain proce-
dures to continue to operate in these programs. Obviously, they
must remain licensed and accredited to participate, but they also
must be recertified every four years. Whether they are, again, fully
certified, or whether they are provisionally certified, or whether
their certification is withdrawn, will depend on how they have per-
formed in the program up to that point.

Of the 1,500 institutions that we recertified last year, 70 percent
of those were fully certified, 20 percent were provisionally certified,
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and about 10 percent had their certification withdrawn, so they are
no longer participating in these programs.

We also monitor these institutions' progress, and we have dedi-
cated more staff, more training and more attention to this process.
Last year, our 10 regional offices conducted about 900 reviews of
institutions, and it was about a 50 percent increase over the pre-
vious year. We worked hard to better target our views on at-risk
institutions and to reduce the time it takes to finalize a review, be-
cause that helps both the institution and the Federal Government,
and to assess only meaningful liabilities.

We also monitor student aid applications, from the students
themselves, to assure that ineligible students don't receive aid. We
match with the Social Security, with the INS, and with our own
historical files, to assure that students who aren't eligible aren't re-
ceiving the aid.

The match we began last year with our historical files database
identified 125,000 students who had prior defaults and, thus, were
not eligible, and through this prevented as much as possibly $310
million of potential future defaults.

Plus, we are redesigning our computer system and financial
management systems to assure greater integration into one system.
Our major piece of this is the project we call EASI, you may have
heard it, that stands for Easy Access for Students and Institutions,
which is taking the lessons we've learned from implementing the
direct loan program, which has worked very well with the institu-
tions, and applying those lessons we've learned in that delivery sys-
tem to our entire delivery system, so that we have .a more facile
way for students and institutions to participate with us. It also, in-
terestingly, provides us with greater accountability of our pro-
grams, because we have the information back to us so much more
rapidly.

You probably heard about the great success we've experienced in
reducing defaults. We'd like to claim success for all of this, and we
certainly believe we deserve some of the credit, but you do as well,
because it really was the congressional default initiatives in the
late 1980s that set the stage for this to occur.

Default rates have been cut in half since 1992, or 1991, reinsur-
ance payments have declined by 30 percent at the same time the
volume went up by 50 percent. Now, that's all very good news.
More than 600 schools have been eliminated from eligibility in the
loan programs, and more than 300 schools have been entirely
eliminated from participation in the student aid programs since
1983, and that's twice as many institutions as were eliminated
from the programs in the previous seven years combined.

But, we are not satisfied with our success to date. Perhaps, our
most ambitious current project is to totally rethink the way we ap-
proach monitoring and oversight. We've begun an approach that
will reward institutions that have continually demonstrated out-
standing performance with less regulation, using the resources that
we previously have for,' sod on those institutions to more fully focus
on institutions that pose the most significant risk to the Federal
Government.

We began this process by simplifying the regulations released
last December, and, in fact, in that area we've reduced regulation
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on all institutions, sort of searching for those regulations which no
longer added value to the system. We've also reinvented our admin-
istrative processes, focusing on developing stronger process for ana-
lyzing risk in institutions, what's called risk analysis, and in exam-
ining institutions through a case management approach, rather
than through the various stovepipes we used that gave us a little
bit of knowledge about an institution and many offices, but not a
very comprehensive view of the institution overall, so we're moving
to this case management approach. It's one that will allow us to
serve institutions and students better, and the Federal taxpayer
better as well.

Mr. Chairman, I've explained the processes involved regarding
institutional eligibility. We take very seriously our responsibility to
maintain the integrity of these programs. We have made signifi-
cant improvements in the existing oversight system, and we hope
to continue to try and do even better. I look forward to responding
to your questions and comments when you wish to address them.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Longanecker follows:]
STATEMENT OF DAVID A. LONGANECKER

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee,
I am pleased to appear before you today to share with you the process by which

institutions of postsecondary education become and remain eligible to participate in
the student financial aid programs. I would also like to provide you with informa-
tion on the work we have done to improve our systems of operations and ensure
that the institutions participating in our programs are complying with administra-
tive and fiscal requirements, as well as providing quality education and training to
their students. Our goalone that I am sure you shareis to provide deserving stu-
dents access to high-quality postsecondary education while simultaneously ensuring
the integrity of the federal student aid programs. It is a goal that embodies the
President's longstanding conviction that the Federal Government has an obligation
to ensure educational opportunity, but with that opportunity comes responsibility,
including responsibility on the part of the institutions. Our commitment to ensure
that students, who increasingly are from low and middle-income families, have ac-
cess to a high-quality. postsecondary education, depends, in large part, upon our
management of these very important programs.

While we believe that the vast majority of the institutions that participate in our
programs are operating in full compliance with our rules and regulations, there are
some institutions that perform contrary to the program's goals and objectives. These
are the institutions that we are especially concerned with and the ones on which
we focus our monitoring and oversight efforts. In my testimony today, I will explain
the requirements that institutions must meet for eligibility in the student financial
assistance programs. I will also discuss how our more focused and attentive over-
sight efforts, as well as our tougher standards, have removed many institutions
from the programs and deterred other unqualified institutions from even applying
for eligibility. Finally, I will share with you the work we have done, and the
progress we have made, to adopt a fundamentally different, and we are convinced
far better, approach to oversight that will build upon our accomplishments of the
last few years.
ELIGIBILITY AND CERTIFICATION

Currently, approximately 7,000 postsecondary institutions participate in federal
student financial aid programs authorized under Title IV of the Higher Education
Act of 1965 (HEA), and nearly $40 billion of financial aid are provided to students
through these programs each year. In order to participate in the Title IV programs,
an institution must (1) be licensed or otherwise legally authorized by a State to pro-
vide postsecondary education or training; (2) be accredited by a nationally recog-
nized accrediting agency; and (3) meet the Department's requirements for certifi-
cation. [Flow charts outlining the existing oversight system are attached at the end
of the testimony.] These three partners represent what is often referred to as the
Program Integrity Triad. The Department of Education has worked with Congress
to improve the eligibility and certification process, and our combined efforts have
paid off handsomely. For example, the percentage of initial applications for certifi-
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cation that are denied has increased substantially, from 16.6 percent in 1990 to 30.5
percent in 1992 to nearly 40 percent in 1995, reflecting our tougher standards for
certification. Furthermore, the sheer number of initial applications for certification
has declined more than 50 percent since 1991.

An institution seeking initial eligibility must be accredited by an accrediting agen-
cy that is recognized by the Secretary. Accrediting agencies are private, nongovern-
mental, peer review organizations that evaluate educational quality, with emphasis
on the curriculum, the qualifications of the faculty, student outcomes, support serv-
ices, and the ability of the institution to carry out its mission. While accreditation
has been a requirement for institutional eligibility since the inception of these pro-
grams, the 1992 Amendments to the HEA significantly strengthened the require-
ments that accrediting agencies must meet in order to be recognized. The 1992
Amendments specified 12 areas in which agencies must develop standards and oper-
ating procedures with respect to reviews of institutions by accrediting agencies. The
Amendments included the requirement that agencies must have standards for edu-
cational outcomes, including, as appropriate, completion and job placement rates,
and performance on licensing examinations. Institutions that fail to meet their ac-
crediting agency standards lose their accreditation and, as a result, their eligibility
to participate in Title N programs.

The Department is responsible for evaluating the compliance of accrediting agen-
cies with the requirements of the 1992 Amendments. The Department evaluates
written materials, conducts site visits of agencies, observes institutional site visits
conducted by accrediting agency evaluators, and conducts agency file reviews to
evaluate and monitor agency compliance with the requirements for recognition.

The 1992 Amendments also substantially enhanced the role of, and renamed, the
National Advisory Committee on Institutional Quality and Integrity, which is com-
prised principally of presidents and vice presidents of postsecondary education insti-
tutions. This outstanding group of individuals performs a valuable service for the
Federal Government by giving their time and advising the Secretary on matters re-
garding the eligibility and certification of institutions for Title N programs. One of
their principal roles is to review staff reports concerning accrediting agencies and
to make recommendations to the Secretary concerning the recognition of accrediting
agencies, including recommendations to withdraw, modify, and/or place conditions
on recognition.

The Department, with the assistance of the National Advisory Committee, is con-
tinuing to work with accrediting agencies to strengthen their oversight in statutorily
mandated areas, in accordance with the 1992 Amendments. Prior to the 1992
Amendments, there were concerns that the agencies were not ensuring that the in-
stitutions they accredit were fulfilling their responsibility to provide a high-quality
education to their students. The Department shared similar concerns. Since then,
we have tried to engage the agencies and stress the importance of their role with
regard to ensuring educational quality. The agencies have responded by working to
develop meaningful standards to assess educational programs. Although some con-
cerns remain regarding the agencies' ability and willingness to enforce performance
measure standards, we have witnessed a substantial change in behavior on the part
of the accrediting agencies, and we remain firm in our belief that these private orga-
nizations are better suited to assess educational capability than is the Federal Gov-
ernment.

An institution must also apply to the Department for certification that it meets
certain standards of financial responsibility and administrative capability. This ap-
plication may be submitted at the same time the institution applies for eligibility.
To meet these standards, an institution must, at least, demonstrate that it meets
its financial obligations, provides the administrative resources necessary to comply
with Title N requirements, has audited financial statements that indicate sufficient
financial health, employs an adequate number of capable staff to administer Title
N programs, maintains records as required by the Department, and implements a
sound system of internal controls.

If an institution seeking initial eligibility meets the standards of financial respon-
sibility and administrative capability, the Department grants provisional certifi-
cation to the institution. Provisional certification is another new and important au-
thority that was created in the 1992 Amendments to ensure that institutions are
capable of effectively administering the Title N programs. After the first full award
year, each new institution must apply for full certification, at which time the De-
partment determines, based on a thorough review of the institution's performance
during its first year of participation, whether to grant full certification, continue
provisional certification, or terminate eligibility. In addition, the Department consid-
ers any review that may have been conducted by either the Department or a student
loan guaranty agency. All institutions placed on provisional certification are subject
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to a system of expedited administrative review, which enables us to remove schools
from participation quickly, should problems arise.

Institutions fully certified to participate in Title IV programs must also follow cer-
tain procedures to continue their participation. Institutions must remain licensed
and accredited at all times during their participation. In addition, all institutions,
as required by the 1992 Amendments, must be recertified every four years to ensure
that they continue to meet the standards of financial responsibility and administra-
tive capability. When an institution applies for recertification, the Department may:
recertify the institution for the full four-year period; provisionally certify the institu-
tion if it meets most of the requirements but has some deficiencies; or deny
recertification, at which point the institution's Program Participation Agreement
(PPA) expires and the institution loses the ability to participate in Title IV pro-
grams. The Department may place an institution on provisional certification if the
institution is experiencing problems that are significant enough to warrant further
monitoring. Again, when an institution is placed on provisional certification, the De-
partment can remove the institution from participation much more quickly than it
can remove a fully certified institution.

The Department focused its initial recertification efforts on the institutions that
have previously posed concerns to the Department. Nearly 60 percent of the first
1,500 institutions that underwent recertification were selected because they met cri-
teria that identify potentially at-risk institutions. Institutions that met these cri-
teria include institutions that were subject to an on-site review by either the De-
partment or a guaranty agency in the past year or did not meet the financial stand-
ards based upon an initial screening of their financial statements. Among the insti-
tutions selected for recertification last year, more than 20 percent were provisionally
certified and another 10 percent were rejected altogether. In all, 531 institutions
(which includes both new institutions and currently eligible institutions) are provi-
sionally certified.
MONITORING EFFORTS

Monitoring and program reviews are other essential tools of oversight that we use
to ensure accountability and compliance with the rules and regulations of the pro-
grams. Through the use of management controls, databases, legislation, and inten-
sive reviews of at-risk institutions, we have spent considerable time and effort to
substantially improve monitoring and oversight.

The Department's monitoring of institutions was assisted by the 1992 Amend-
ments, which mandate the annual and timely submission of financial and compli-
ance audits by all institutions. Previously, institutions submitted financial audits
only after the Department detected a problem with their ability to meet the finan-
cial requirements. Compliance audits used to be required every two years. These an-
nual audits are an important tool that enable us to review high-risk institutions'
performance before serious problems arise. For example, findings in an institution's
compliance audit may lead us to conduct a program review, in which one of the De-
partment's 10 regional offices reviews an institution's participation in the student
financial assistance programs and initiates corrective action to ensure that the
school is using proper procedures to award, disburse, and account for Federal funds.
If a program review or other process check reveals noncompliance with specific pro-
gram participation requirements, or potential for significant dollar impact that is
adverse to the government or harmful to students, the Department may place the
institution on the reimbursement system, begin an enforcement action, including
termination, or, if fraud is suspected, refer the case to the Office of the Inspector
General for investigation.

The Department performed nearly 900 program reviews in 1995, a 50 percent in-
crease from 1994. We have hired additional program reviewers and significantly in-
creased the formal training we provide to them through our new Training Academy:
The Department has also implemented other measures to better target high-risk in-
stitutions for program reviews, reduce the time it takes to finalize a review, and as-
sess only meaningful liabilities. By taking advantage of technological advances, we
have refined automated techniques used to evaluate school status and provide warn-
ing signals to identify high priority candidates for review; we have supplied staff
with state-of-the-art portable computers and enabled them to access Pell Grant pay-
ment information to support review activities; and we have made important im-
provements in the practice of statistical sampling so that our reviewers can make
more sophisticated, scientifically designed assessments of the loss of Federal funds
caused by institutional errors or abuse.

The Department also monitors student aid applications to prevent ineligible stu-
dents, and students who provide false information, from receiving Federal funds. A
number of database matches are performed for each student aid application, and
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many have recently been enhanced or introduced to strengthen our oversight in this
area. First, beginning September 1994, each applicant's name and date of birth is
matched with the Social Security Administration's master file to verify the appli-
cant's Social Security number. Prior to 1994, we were checking merely to determine
whether the Social Security number the applicant reported was within the valid
range of all numbers issued by the Social Security Administration.

Second, beginning January 1995, every applicant's name and Social Security num-
ber is checked against the Department's National Student Loan Data System
(NSLDS) to determine whether the student is in default on a student loan, or has
received an overpayment on a grant and therefore owes a refund, before he or she
can receive additional aid. This new data system provides more timely, accurate,
and comprehensive loan-level information than was previously available through the
database of loans held by the Department and the default files of guaranty agencies.
NSLDS is also used to verify the enrollment status of student borrowers, verify that
student borrowers have not exceeded statutory loan limits, and is critical in ensur-
ing that the Federal Government does not overpay lenders for interest benefits aris-
ing from federally guaranteed loans. To date, NSLDS has identified approximately
125,000 prior defaulters among students applying for additional financial aid, pre-
venting as much as $310 million in future defaults.

Third, the Department verifies the eligibility status of applicants who claim to be
eligible noncitizens by matching their alien registration number ("A" number) with
the Immigration and Naturalization Service. We have also implemented, beginning
in January 1996, a recommendation from our Office of the Inspector General to ex-
pand the Social Security number match to include citizenship status in order to
prescreen all applicants for citizenship status rather than only those who provide
an alien registration number. Finally, the Department has recently begun system-
atically to identify students with scheduled Pell Grants in excess of the amount al-
lowed by law. Such excesses can occur when students transfer schools. This check
will help ensure that no such student will receive an overpayment.

We are also building on accomplishments of the Direct Loan Program to use tech-
nological advances to consolidate our systems and processes. For example, we are
redesigning the Department's financial and management information systems to en-
sure that data from accounting, grants, contracts, payments, and other "feeder" sys-
tems such as the student aid application system are integrated into one financial
management system. Additionally, we are working with a diverse group of govern-
ment, business, and education leaders to reengineer the postsecondary student aid
delivery system through the creation of Project EASI (Easy Access for Students and
Institutions). Project EASI will integrate the various systems components into a sin-
gle, student-centered system. All of these measures will help us reduce our costs
through the elimination of redundant and obsolete systems, reduce fraud and sys-
tem vulnerability, and facilitate program flexibility and change as we expand our
capability to quickly utilize new technologies. They will also help institutions avoid
noncompliance with our rules and regulations.
ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS AND DEFAULT REDUCTION INITIATIVES

When audit reviews, program reviews, or other monitoring devices indicate that
an institution is failing to comply with requirements of Title IV programs, or that
a school is otherwise determined to be at-risk, the Department can limit, suspend,
or terminate an institution's participation agreement. In 1994, 191 termination ac-
tions were imposed by the Department, the most ever for a single year.

The default reduction initiative has also proven to be a very effective tool in ena-
bling the Department to end an institution's eligibility for one or more of the stu-
dent aid programs when the institution's cohort default rate exceeds certain statu-
tory and regulatory default rate criteria. The cohort default rate is defined as the
percentage of loans that entered repayment in a given fiscal year that defaulted in
that year or the subsequent year. Because the statutory threshold has dropped from
35 percent to 25 percent over a four-year period, the number of institutions removed
from participation has increased considerably in the past few years. More than 600
institutions have been made ineligible to participate in the Federal Family Edu-
cation Loan (FFEL) program since the default reduction authority was granted in
1988.

The national cohort default rate declined from 22.4 percent in the 1990 cohort to
11.6 percent in the 1993 cohort. The Department's reinsurance payments have de-
clined more than 30 percent, from $3.5 billion in 1991 to $2.4 billion in 1995, despite
a 50 percent increase in the volume of loans in repayment during the same period.

Through these measures, and our overall commitment to stronger oversight, more
than 300 institutions have been removed from participation in all Title IV programs
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since this Administration came into office in January, 1993. This is more than twice
the number removed from eligibility in the previous seven years combined.
THE DEPARTMENT'S NEW APPROACH FOR OVERSIGHT REFORM

Finally, I want to share with you today a very different approach to monitoring
and oversight that will best utilize our available resources, and which we are in the
process of implementing. Under this initiative, the Department will provide regu-
latory and administrative relief to institutions that have continually demonstrated
outstanding performance in administering Title N programs. In turn, this will en-
able us to more fully focus our resources on institutions that pose significant risks
to Federal funds, and increase our oversight of institutions that have experienced
problems in managing our programs.

This initiative builds upon the actions already taken by the Department to sim-
plify regulations and administrative processes and to ensure the integrity of the pro-
grams and promote accountability. The Department has alleviated some unneces-
sary burdens for all institutions through the recent issuance of new regulations and
by streamlining the recertification application that each institution is required to
submit. Our latest initiative allows us to move further in this direction and reduce
administrative burden where the program's requirements do not improve account-
ability, protect the Federal fiscal interest, or serve the students. We believe that
there are a number of institutions that should not have to be regulated as strin-
gently as other institutions because of their past successful performance in manag-
ing the Title IV programs.

By providing relief to these institutions, we will be able to direct our resources
to increase oversight of institutions that require closer monitoring. To implement
this performance-based approach to oversight, the Department is developing a risk-
analysis model that will allow us to target oversight resources on institutions with
poor performance records. The Department will also re-align staff with oversight re-
sponsibilities along case management lines, with a team of employees responsible
for all oversight activities for an assigned group of institutions. We believe that this
approach will enable us to manage the program more effectively and efficiently and
to be more responsive to our customers.
CONCLUSION

Mr. Chairman, I have explained the processes involved regarding institutional eli-
gibility in Title IV programs. Although the requirements for eligibility may, at
times, seem daunting, we recognize and take seriously our responsibility to main-
tain the integrity of the student financial aid programs. We also believe that we
have made significant improvements in the existing oversight system, both by re-
ducing the unnecessary administrative burdens and by better monitoring institu-
tions that pose risks to Federal funds. Our hard work in implementing the regula-
tions arising from the 1992 Amendments and in improving the management of these
programs is consistent with the President's belief of providing opportunity with re-
sponsibility.

In all, our efforts have allowed us to provide more financial aid to students than
ever before, while ensuring that the institutions that participate in the Title IV pro-
grams are operating within the boundaries of financial and administrative respon-
sibility.

I would be happy to answer your questions at this time.

'4



11

Now Institutions Obtain Initial Elba !billy
to Participate In Title IV Programs

Oe nun Stale license or
outhontsben

ad an accreditation

ED aontos tun
cnineotion Out allows
cnsUivuon to remain on

lgovfsions1
offrOncallon for

on-nsolva roars

,/ Ina Waco of
\ loaner eclusallon?

Apply to ED for sogituldy

ED op moos
prooestonot mot..3n

Insatullon rovISsenally
.11111N1 for on lull aurora year

sod parlielps s on till. IV
Programs

Apply to CO tor
IWI cntneation

(Currant!, thousands of instshnsons prow.
oestsixonauy eaucsuon and trauma Out
ala flat ponlentatIng in Till. IV prOiltorn.)

ED eon not W....

CO litotes pooltoWtoh
agroornont to empire

No orucipalton

. Ne honor
parompotton

Flow Chart 1



N
o 

pi
oN

cI
pa

tio
o

O
ve

rs
ig

ht
 o

f F
ul

ly
 C

er
tif

ie
d 

in
st

itu
tio

ns

11
__

.llo
bs

ai
pi

bu
ur

F
un

 C
or

ld
iz

st
io

o

P
io

vi
st

on
al

ca
rld

w
ah

on

M
ul

l ,
m

ai
n'

ac
 a

ne
d,

ga
dd

ed
,

lli
pI

al
 to

 p
an

ic
-W

ol
f

11
.1

b 
go

...
41

W
ev

aq
 lo

w
m

il
an

d
so

m
e 

m
ut

t b
e

is
cN

dt
O

 a
lo

ft
hq

ue
nd

y 
d 

Ilu
u 

I.
ch

an
o 

b 
ow

no
.h

io

al
l

N
o 

pa
rU

ci
pb

on

14
 0

00
00

 d

P
ro

bl
em

 d
al

O
ol

so
o

F
in

ol

.'n
at

io
n,

pe
ni

or
d

la
m

in
a.

° 
ao

lio
n

F
lo

w
 C

ha
rt

 2

fl
B

E
ST

 C
O

PY
A

M
IA

B
L

E
'



13

Chairman MCKEON. Thank you very much.
We have just a few Members, so maybe we could do a round of

questions with each of the panelists.
Ms. Woolsey, do you have a question?
Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Well, I'd like to ask a very simple question, but I don't know the

answer to it so I'm going to ask it. Once a school or a program has
been decertified or eliminated can that program or that institution
reapply, and under what parameters?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes, they can. They must be out of the pro-
grams for at least 18 months, at which point they can reapply, and
if they have met the conditions, if the conditions under which they
were eliminated have been corrected, they can come back, unless,
of course, they've been involved in fraud against the Federal Gov-
ernment, in which case we will debar and their officers from fur-
ther participation in the future.

Ms. WOOLSEY. And, is there a new level of scrutiny when they
reapply and are they monitored more closely?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Well, they go through, basically, that total
recertification process, and at that point we look to make sure that
they meet the financial responsibilities and that they have the ad-
ministrative capacity to serve the programs well.

Ms. WOOLSEY. Have you experienced that happening? I mean, is
that happening now?

Mr. LONGANECKER. We do not have very many institutions that
have been eliminated from the program that come back.

Ms. WOOLSEY. Okay, thank you.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

1Chairman McKE0N. Thank you.
Mr. Gunderson?
Mr. GUNDERSON. Could you give us a specific number, Mr. Sec-

retary, of the number of institutions that have been decertified dur-
ing the last three years?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Since we came in, we've decertified 300 insti-
tutions.

Mr. GUNDERSON. And, the primary basis for the decertification
was?

Mr. LONGANECKER. There were a variety of factors, the most sig-
nificant was non-compliance with the default conditions. Normally,
they are just kicked out of the student loan programs if they have
a high default rate for three years, but if they have a default rate
that is exceptionally high the regulations provide for their being
terminated from the program entirely. A number of institutions fall
into that category.

We have other institutions that have been eliminated because of
their financial circumstances, or, more frequently, because of sub-
stantial compliance problems or violations. It's not uncommon for
institutions to be terminated from the program, in fact, it's fairly
standard to be terminated from the program for non-compliance.

Some of the areas that are most prominent in that area are fail-
ure to meet the ability to benefit provisions of the law, failure to
meet the satisfactory academic progress conditions of the law, or
failure to provide appropriate refunds to students and to the Fed-
eral Government.
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Mr. GUNDERSON. The 300 institutions that you have decertified,
how many of those were private for profit?

Mr. LONGANECKER. The majority of them are. I don't have the
specific numbers. I will provide those for you for the record.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Are there public institutions that have been de-
certified?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes, there are public institutions in that cat-
egory, and there are independent institutions, but the majority of
the institutions were proprietary institutions.

Mr. GUNDERSON. How many of the public institutions would be
four-year institutions?

Mr. LONGANECKER. That were terminated?
Mr. GUNDERSON. Yes.
Mr. LONGANECKER. I don't know of any public four-year institu-

tions that were terminated from eligibility.
Mr. GUNDERSON. Okay.
How do you handle these institutions from the perspective of di-

rect lending? Are there students still eligible for direct lending?
Mr. LONGANECKER. The rules and regulations for direct lending

are precisely the same as they are for the Federal family education
loans. We don't make a distinction between loan programs. If a col-
lege has been eliminated from eligibility for the FFEL program,
then they are certainly eliminated from eligibility for the direct
student loan program.

In fact, in the first two years of eligibility for the direct loan pro-
gram, the requirements for entry into that program were more rig-
orous than they had been for the FFEL program.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Let me go on to one quick question and then
I'll conclude.

Mr. Childers suggests in his testimony that one of the problems
that we are facing is the growing imbalance between loans and
grants, in terms of the lower economic student's eligibility or will-
ingness to participate in higher education. Does the Department
agree with that conclusion, that we are spending too little money
on grants compared to loans now?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes.
Mr. GUNDERSON. You do. And, you would advocate what?
Mr. LONGANECKER. Well, we don't have a specific position with

respect to that, but as we put together our reauthorization propos-
als and work with you over the next couple of years, we would like
to be able to try to come up with a set of public policies that specifi-
cally address that concern.

Mr. GUNDERSON. To what degree have you considered that ques-
tion from a public versus private, if part of our problem today is
looking at the dramatic costs and the increase in tuition, to what
degree do you think the role of grants as to provide access to all
students and the role of loans as to provide choice to higher cost
institutions?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Well, I think that's the way we traditionally
have looked at the circumstances, and it may well fit for the future,
but I think we have a set of dynamics looking at us in the future
that may require us to rethink even some of our old rhetoric.

We are going to be looking at such a substantial increase in the
demand for higher education, because of the natural demographics
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of this country over the next decade, and we're going to be looking
at such substantial constraints in our public resources that we
maywe need to haveI think the old rhetoric about access and
choice, grants and loans, we may have to rethink that.

We've unintentionally moved away from that policy over the last
decade. Now, we have to intentionally reinvent our policies to be
more responsive to the needs of our students.

Mr. GUNDERSON. In previous reauthorizations, we have had an
impossible time determining the amount of true resources available
to students. We can figure out the public funds at the State level
and at the Federal level. We have been unable to find out the pri-
vate foundation money available, both campus by campus or school
by school, and within the private sector that would be available. To
what degree does the Department have that information? Are you
considering pursuing that information, or would you consider com-
piling it so that we can really get a handle on what the amount
of resources is versus the need. I mean, we don't have any idea.

Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes. I think we can go a long way to helping
to provide that information, but I think it's also very important to
remember that we are in a partnership here, and in many respects
we are the foundation of that partnership. So, it may not be en-
tirely appropriate to look at the past and where people have been,
because to some extent where we are will establish where the oth-
ers settle in.

Our Pell Grant program is the foundation of all student financial
assistance, and so, people will build on that, and how we build our
philosophy and our theory around that will, to some extent, drive
whether we encourage others to invest in student financial assist-
ance or not.

All of this suggests we've got a mighty serious task ahead of us,
one that I think you'll find the administration very interested in
working closely with you on, but one that I think we think will
take some challenging new ways of looking at things, other than
what we've done just in the past.

I don't want to sound too vague in my response to you. Yes, we'll
try to provide the best information. What I'm really trying to say
is, I'm not sure that looking at the past and the information from
the past, will necessarily provide the perfect knowledge about
where we, go.

Mr. GUNDERSON. I would suggest that the cost of tuition at Har-
vard, or Princeton, or Yale, is irrelevant to the public policy debate
unless you consider the amount of private foundation money at
that institution available to enable students to attend.

I mean, I come from the midwest. I could give you case after case
of young students from the midwest who have made decisions to
attend exclusive, private universities and colleges across this coun-
try, not because they could afford it, but because when they com-
bined their student financial aid with the private foundation money
they then concluded that the cost of attending that school was,
frankly, no more than attending a State college or university with-
in the midwest. And so, it has given them choices they otherwise
didn't have, and we need to have that information to make the
public policy decisions about where our limited Federal dollars are
going to go.
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Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes, no disagreement. We need all the infor-
mation we have.

Chairman McKE0N. Thank you.
Mr. Green.
Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I apologize for being late.

I'd like to submit a statement for the record.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Green follows:]
STATEMENT OF HON. GENE GREEN, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE

STATE OF TEXAS

Mr. Chairman:
I would like to thank the Chairman and the Ranking Member for the opportunity

to have this hearing.
The Congress has created good programs that assist students in higher education

pursuits.
As our nation becomes more and more technological, Americans will have to know

more in order to succeed.
Higher Education is more important now, than ever in our history, and it is vi-

tally important that the Congress continue its bipartisan support of these activities.
I look forward to hearing from our panel of witnesses as we learn more about our

higher education system.

Mr. GREEN. Mr. Secretary, coming from Texas, I'd be interested
if you or the Department could provide us the institutions particu-
larly in the State of Texas that are no longer eligible for Title IV
funds. I know I saw the list a couple of years ago but I would like
to and see an update.

My question is, what happens to a student attending an institu-
tion that is no longer eligible for Title IV funds? Can the student
transfer his or her eligibility to another institution?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Generally, that's an excellent question, be-
cause our focus, we always try to keep our focus on the student,
but sometimes when we are working with an institution students
actually get hurt in the process.

The law has changed in ways to protect students who are institu-
tions that have precipitous closure, so if an institution now closes
precipitously during a term, that student is eligible for discharge
of that loan, if they are unable to be placed in another educational
institution.

What we always try to do when an institution is closing is to pro-
vide a train-out opportunity, if it's a proprietary school, or transfer
opportunity if it's a collegiate school, into a comparable educational
experience, so that the student isn't punished.

But, we aren't always successful in achieving that. That's our ob-
jective, obviously, is to try to do that.

If we are unsuccessful and that student is left out in the cold,
then they can ask for a discharge of that Federal student assist-
ance and are eligible for that.

Mr. GREEN. That meets one of my questions, because I know five,
six years ago we had a lot of students, before the law changed, that
have student loans that, you know, were closed, whether it be some
of the truck driving schools or what have you, and that student
was still on the loan, even though the school closed.

Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes. And, we still get calls from students who
are eligible but had no idea they were for some kind of benefit.

Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman McKE0N. Mr. Petri.
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Mr. PETRI. Thank you.
I just had one area I thought, perhaps, Mr. Childers or one of

the other panels might want to respond to. We care a lot for our
constituents and are reading an increasing amount about higher
education costs increasing above the rate of inflation comparable to
health care costs, rate of increase during the last decade or so. Is
that accurate, or is it that schools are doing more massaging of
their rates so that they are raising the posted charge and then dis-
counting to various students or groups, so as to basically sock it to
wealthier families who are able to pay and subsidize in one way
or another those who are less able to pay. How much of this is a
real increase and how much of it is just manipulation? Do we have
any indication that there is some of that going on, or are these in-
flationary rates of increases real? I'm trying to think of some chari-
table explanation for why maybe schools aren't pricing themselves
out of the middle class education market increasingly.

Mr. LONGANECKER. Mr. Petri, as I got into in my statement, this
is sort of jumping into part of it at this point, but there have been
increases in the prices of colleges and universities in this country
over the last 15 years, which is the time period I used in my testi-
mony, which have outstripped the rate of inflation in this country
and have exceeded the rate of family income growth in this coun-
t
However, there are great variabilities within that, and the focus

on the highest priced institutions, that does not represent the uni-
verse of higher education institutions in this country. For example,
the average tuition and fees of public four years and public commu-
nity colleges is much lower than the statistics you often find. For
example, the University of Wisconsin, Madison, this year, the cost
of tuition and fees is $2,700 for the academic year. At the Univer-
sity of California, UCLA, it's $3,900.

But, within the higher priced institutions, yes, Congressman
Petri, there is a reallocation, redistribution of funds, within the in-
stitution, which ranges in some institutions as high as 40 some
percent of tuition and fees, which are basically reallocated to others
and the price is discounted. So, the posted price is not the paid
price in many cases. There's more and more examples and articles
about that phenomenon in higher education institutions today, and
that is definitely a trend that is going on in higher education today.

Chairman McKEON. Mr. Graham.
Mr. GRAHAM. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I'm not a Member of

the subcommittee. I appreciate you letting me attend and partici-
pate, because I'm very interested in the topic. I have a lot of edu-
cational institutions in my district, and a lot of folks want to go to
college.

Would anybody like to comment on the effect on an education tax
credit and how that would help or hurt the availability or acces-
sibility of higher education or another precedent supporting an
education tax credit? Is that a good idea or a bad idea?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Well, I better answer that or I'd be in big
trouble when I went back.

Mr. GRAHAM. I think I know what you might say.
Mr. LONGANECKER. Actually, what we are proposing is a tax de-

duction of up to $10,000, and we think that's a wise investment for
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this country. In fact, it's hard for us to envision that itI mean,
basically, we think investments in education are smart invest-
ments. They return, and in this case it's one that we think is par-
ticularly smart because it's encouraging families to invest in their
children's future or in their own future, in a way that will return
a substantial amount, both to society, thus, justifying the tax ex-
penditure, and to the individual, thus, justifying the personal deci-
sion. So, we think that makes good sense.

Mr. GRAHAM. Do you have any cost estimates of what the deduc-
tion would cost?

Mr. LONGANECKER. I should know that off hand, I don't want to
guess at that, let me provide that for the record to you. I'm sorry,
I should know, and I don't.

Mr. GRAHAM. I understand.
I think Congressman Gunderson had some very good questions

about the number of institutions that have been taken off the roles
and the reasons. You said there were no public four-year institu-
tions that were disqualified from the program?

Mr. LONGANECKER. To my knowledge there were none, that
doesn't mean there weren't any, but I don't recall any four-year col-
leges that have lost their eligibility.

Mr. GRAHAM. What kind of default rates are we talking about for
a school that does lose its eligibility?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Current law requires that an institution lose
its eligibility for FFEL, for student loan eligibility, if it has con-
secutively three years defaults above 25 percent. If it has a default
rate above 40 percent for one year, it loses eligibility for all student
aid programs.

Mr. GRAHAM. Can you give me a generic description of the type
institution we are talking about that has those problems?

Mr. LONGANECKER. The largest share of the institutions that
have been eliminated are for profit institutions by sector. Gen-
erally, institutions with shorter term vocational programs, in the
for profit sector the institutions that are two year of length and
longer tend not to get in this problem as often, though, there was
a whole chain of those that got in trouble a couple years ago, so
that bumped up the number quite a bit.

Mr. GRAHAM. Do you believe that we're spending enough money
on student loans in our current budgets?

Mr. LONGANECKER. In our current budget, the one for fiscal year
1995, I think we are spending enough on student loans. I think we
would hope that we might be able to substantially increase our in-
vestment in grants in the future, and the President has a proposal
to increase the Pell Grant somewhat, but we think our investment
in loans overall is adequate.

Mr. GRAHAM. In the proposal, I think the balanced budget pro-
posal, we increased student loan spending, I think, by 50 percent
over the next seven years. Is that enough?

Mr. LONGANECKER. What we did is, we increased the loan vol-
umes by 50 percent. The cost of the program actually won't go up
by that amount, because we have cut some of the administrative
expenses, both through combined efforts.

Do I think that that's enough? I hope that's enough, certainly,
yes, we would certainly hope that that was adequate. The reason
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that loan volumes have gone up so much in the recentwell, one
reason they went up is that the loan limits were increased in 1992,
and whenever you increase the loan limits students will sort of
move to that, and that was sort of a step increase that was sub-
stantially there, but over the last decade one of the reasons there's
been so much more heavy reliance on student loans is that we
haven't been able to keep pace on the grant side.

Mr. GRAHAM. Okay.
Let me ask you a question about the default procedure. Let's say

that a school has a 30 percent default rate for year one and two,
but year three they are under 30 percent, are they back inthere's
no trigger?

Mr. LONGANECKER. No, they are safe for another two years.
Mr. GRAHAM. So, they could go back in year four and five?
Mr. LONGANECKER. They could be at 30 percent again for years

four and five and they'd be okay, and if they came down in year
six to 24.9 percent they'd be okay. That's the current law.

Mr. GRAHAM. Would you like to see us in Congress change that
dynamic?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Actually, I think we'll probably, as we get
into serious discussions about reauthorization, we'd like to rethink
the whole concept of default, and whether we are defining it cor-
rectly overall.

Mr. GRAHAM. One last question. In the 21st century, how do you
envision the student loan program working in terms of who is pro-
viding the capital, monitoring the payback, and policing the sys-
tem?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Well, we're pretty strong proponents of the
new direct student loan program, so we'd probably, in our dream
environment, sort of see something that looked pretty much like it.

Mr. GRAHAM. Okay. Thank you.
Chairman McICE0/1. Mr. Castle. Do you have any questions spe-

cifically for Mr. Longanecker?
Mr. CASTLE. I don't, Mr. Chairman. First of all, thank you for let-

ting me sit in. I'm, of course, not on this subcommittee, and sec-
ondly, I will not ask any questions because I did miss the testi-
mony. I know you want to go on to the others, and I'm going to
have to leave to go to another committee meeting.

Just one point, Mr. Chairman, based on what I've heard and
seen. I am delighted that you are doing it. We always say that
about each other, but I am truly delighted that you are having
these hearings on the cost of higher education.

I don't know if there are many more important subjects in the
entire Congress or in this country. Some people might argue, is this
really a matter of congressional interest? You are doggone right it
is. We are dealing with grants, we are dealing with loan programs,
these are a huge cost.

Every time, and I mean this very sincerely, because I'm a total
defender and believer in higher education, but I just worry so much
about the costs of it. Every time I look at the cost of living I see
health care, and then someplace just beyond it I usually see higher
education, particularly, in the last dozen years or so. We really
need to do something about it.
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I just talked to the president of my college, which is now $27,000
a year, and he indicated that they have, for the first time, hired
somebody to deal strictly with the costs.

The Federal Government can only do so much. We are trying to
balance the budget. Students can only absorb so many loans. We
can only absorb so many grants and scholarship programs. We ab-
solutely must start adjusting the costs.

I have not read all of the Philadelphia Enquirer's articles that I
bet every one of you is aware of, but you may not be. They did a
very extensive five-day series of articles, and they took on the Uni-
versity of Pennsylvania, among others, which changes in student
population, virtually none at all in the last 15 years, but has in-
creased tremendously with administrators, and we really have to
look at the costs of education. I'm not enough of an educator to be
able to say exactly where it is. You tend to think it's in administra-
tion, and it probably is to some degree, I think it's in more building
than people realize.

I mean, I know at the University of Delaware, in which I was
involved as a Governor of Delaware, and as somebody who lives
there, every time a building goes up it costs a lot of money. It costs
a lot of money to maintain it as well, and it looks good, and it's
good competition for getting students, but it's a bit of a problem.
But, I just absolutely believe that we need to address this, not just
from the point of view of how we deliver whatever it is that we as
the Federal Government are going to give, but what the all levels
of education are doing with respect to costs.

And, yes, sure, a lot of these schools are private, and does the
Federal Government have any interest in it, well, we do. There's
virtually no school that doesn't have some sort of contracts or ar-
rangements with the Federal Government in some way or another,
as well as the grant and loan programs that go on. So, I think it's
an area of tremendous study.

I appreciate and admire each of the witnesses here today, the
background of whom I've read. I realize that they have a very
tough job, but I hope we all get in this together, and that we start
to really sit on the problem of the rising costs in the administration
of our colleges, which are the very best in the world. I have no
doubt about that, but we have to do it at a level that we can have
all of our students go on to our best colleges.

Just a final story, I was at a high school in Newark, Delaware
on Friday, and I talked to a young man who had opportunities to
go to Penn and Johns Hopkins at $33,000 per year in their honors
programs, and an opportunity to go to the University of Delaware
at, of course, a much lesser rate. He had no choice, even though
the University of Delaware is a very good school, he had to go to
the University of Delaware. He had no choice. He couldn't begin to
think about going to the other schools.

That's happening, I think, a little bit too much, so, hopefully, we
can really address this problem, and I do admire this undertaking
and I hope it is fruitful in the long run, and I thank you for the
opportunity of being here.

Chairman McKE0N. Thank you.
I do think it's very important, and I hope that when we finish

these hearings, you know, you've heard after all is said and done
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generally there is more said than done, I hope we don't end up with
that, that we just end up talking and really don't address the real
problem.

Just one quick question, the community college in my district has
come to me with a problem, and I've written you a note on it. They
hit the 25 percent default rate with nine students. I see other com-
munity colleges in our area, one of them has 35 students defaulted,
they only hit a 20 percent rate. I'm wondering, and we need to talk
about this as we move forward with this, looking at the overall,
what is the real cost if you have 35 students versus nine, you are
probably losing more money. So, there should probably be some
kind of a combination as to how we look at that.

I think in this one that I addressed, I think that will be taken
care of, because one of those students died and probably shouldn't
be counted. I know we're not laughing at death, but it's the prob-
lem.

Mr. LONGANECKER. We're very sympathetic to that, and, in fact,
we've been trying to figure out how we can deal with that situation,
because if one has read the book The Death of Common Sense, this
is the kind of thing that makes people just sort of wonder about
their government. And, our dilemma on this one is some fairly
stringent constraints in law. It might be one of those things we
talk about a Thursday correction or something on, because I don't
think anybody

Chairman McK.E0N. Just the 24.9 to the 25.
Mr. LONGANECKER. [continuing] I don't think anybody ever in-

tended to get in this kind of bind. We are able to take care of it
for those institutions that hit three years over 25, because we have
regulations to provide mitigating circumstances, and it gives the
Secretary the waiver authority in that regard, but we don't have
anything for a one-year requirement. And so, I think we'll be work-
ing with it, and if we can't deal with it regulatorily, then we'll
probably come back to you and see if we can work with you to han-
dle it some other way.

Chairman McKE0N. It's something maybe the whole formula
needs to be addressed, too, and leave some room for some judgment
in some of these programs where your hands wouldn't be totally
tied by a strict regulation.

Another thing we're concerned somewhat, our schools, in looking
at this do you look at areas or do you look at the type of institu-
tion? We're concerned that you don't hit just certain types of insti-
tutions.

Mr. LONGANECKER. I think as we've started to develop this new
concept there's been concern that somehow we were out to get cer-
tain sectors of higher education or postsecondary education. That
is not our case. What we want to do is, we want to reward high-
performing institutions in every sector, and we want to focus our
attention on the most at-risk institutions in every sector.

Now, let's be honest, because of the nature of what we are talk-
ing about, that probably means predominantly there are going to
be more institutions in the for profit sector that are the focus of
our attention.

But, I'll tell you, I worked in two States, and some of the best
institutions in those States were in the proprietary sector. They are
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very strong institutions, and they deserve to be respected and not
have excessive administrative burden. And, as we fashion this new
concept, we need to make sure that we're respecting the differences
and celebrating the differences of American higher education, but
that it's not one that puts a pejorative tent on any one sector.

Chairman MCKEON. On some of my visits I've had the oppor-
tunity to see what some schools in the private sector are doing.
They are doing a fantastic job, and I think we need to be open to
what the end result is. I know I'm new at this, and I know we've
had some problems in the past with some different organizations,
and I'm sure there will be problems in the future, but we need to
be able to be broad in how we look at these.

In the interest of time, what we'll do, I think, is change our for-
mat. We'll go through each of your presentations and then we'll
come back with questions addressing to all of you. Could we start
with Mr. Childers, please.

STATEMENT OF JOHN B. CHILDERS, VICE PRESIDENT FOR
GOVERNMENT RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS, THE
COLLEGE BOARD

Mr. CHILDERS. Mr. Chairman and Members of the committee, I
am John Childers, with the College Board, and I'm delighted to be
here today to share with you what some of us have learned at the
College Board about college student financing of postsecondary
education, and about the academic preparation and counseling stu-
dents need to succeed in college.

I concentrate on these two areas, because they are vital to stu-
dent success. Without both adequate financial aid and academic
preparation, students cannot meet their educational goals.

We conduct at the College Board a great deal of research on col-
lege costs and financial aid. Using the charts attached to this state-
ment, I will now summarize the conclusions we have drawn from
our research efforts in these areas.

Although I will be talking about trends in student aid in the
macro sense, and will be using a lot of averages and large numbers,
I don't want that to mask the fact that there are many, many vari-
ations within higher education institutions and the fact that these
costs fall differentially on different families and students who have
real concerns and anxieties, which I'm sure they have expressed
with you and your colleagues.

A great deal of attention has been paid lately to the rising cost
of college, and with good reason. Since 1980, college costs have
risen at double and triple in some years the rate of inflation, while
family income has remained stagnant. At private institutions, costs
have increased 90 percent over the past 15 years in inflation-ad-
justed terms. At public institutions, the increase has been about
100 percent, but median family income has only risen 5 percent in
the last 15 years.

The problem of rising costs is real, but it should be placed in per-
spective, as we have already discussed a little bit. Forty-five per-
cent of all postsecondary students attend community colleges,
where tuition and fees average $1,200 a year. Another 30 percent
attend four-year public universities, which average $2,800 a year
for tuition and fees.
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Further, almost half of all private colleges and universities
charge below $10,000 a year for tuition and fees. Most of the arti-
cles we see focus mainly on the highest-price institutions.

Nonetheless, institutions recognize they cannot continue to in-
crease their prices at such a rapid rate and many are taking steps
to downsize and restructure.

The other side of the college financing equation is student aid.
Over the past 20 years, the amount of aid awarded to students
from public and private sources has increased by 60 percent in in-
flation-adjusted terms. Nevertheless, gaps in college participation
by income are wider today than they were in 1980. In 1992, the
last year for which data is available, 86 percent of dependent 18-
to 24-year old high school graduates, in the highest family income
quartile, were either currently enrolled or had enrolled in higher
education. The corresponding statistic for those in the lowest in-
come quartile is 52 percent, a gap of 34 percentage points. In 1980,
the gap was 27 percentage points. The gap has widened in the last
15 years.

Part of the explanation for this continuing disparity must lie in
the shifting composition of student aid. In 1975, grants peaked at
80 percent of aid awarded to students from all sources. Last year,
grants represented 43 percent of aid awarded to students from all
sources and 56 percent of all financial aid to all students in all in-
stitutions was Federal loans. I will just note that this is one of the
real reasons why the College Board's Board of Trustees last month
passed a resolution urging the Congress to focus on need-based
grant assistance for the lowest income students as the most posi-
tive step that could be made in the student financial aid field.

There are charts attached to the paper that illustrate the point
about the shift in grants and loans. Funding for Pell Grants and
campus-based aid has changed very little in inflation-adjusted
terms, while loan volume has increased dramatically. The shift
from grants to loans falls hardest on the neediest students.

In 1975, the maximum Pell award covered almost 40 percent of
tuition, room and board at private colleges. Today, the maximum
award covers 15 percent of those charges or private institutions
and only 36 percent of tuition, room and board at public colleges
and universities.

On loans, the most up-to-date information we have, which, unfor-
tunately, predates the 1992 reauthorization of the Higher Edu-
cation Act, indicates that about 40 percent of students are leaving
college with loans, and the average debt incurred is approximately
$6,400. Undoubtedly, that figure is higher today for a number of
reasons, including the run up in loans since 1992, but we don't
have the national information on that. The National Center on
Education Statistics is currently collecting information on the class
this year, 1995-1996, which should-be available one year from now,
hopefully, in time for your work on reauthorization next year.

This information will be very important, because student loan
volume has jumped 50 percent since the 1992 reauthorization of
the Higher Education Act, due to increased loan limits, the intro-
duction of unsubsidized Stafford loans, and changes in need analy-
sis enacted in 1992.
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Most dramatic, as some of the figures I have show, is the in-
crease in Stafford unsubsidized loans since 1992. Dependent under-
graduate students became eligible for this new unsubsidized Staf-
ford program under the terms of the reauthorization, and in 1994
students took out almost $2.1 million unsubsidized Stafford loans.

It is important to remember that these borrowers are primarily
middle-income students who cannot qualify for a subsidized Staf-
ford. However, this data should not suggest that excess borrowing
is not a real problem for some students. Clearly, low-income stu-
dents, academically at-risk students who may not finish their de-
grees, and students in low-paying fields are all placed at financial
jeopardy when they rely on loans to finance their postsecondary
education.

In sum, what do these numbers tell us about the state of college
financing? First, college costs are a growing problem, but many in-
stitutions remain quite affordable. Second, despite the effort of the
Federal Government, States and institutions to increase the
amount of aid available to students, loans have replaced grants at
the centerpiece of student aid, decreasing college affordability for
the most needy students. And finally, while the dramatic increase
in loan volume may have serious consequences for certain groups
of students, since 1992 it has been primarily caused by an influx
of new middle-income borrowers into the student loan system.

Mr. Chairman, I'd like to briefly touch on a second area, which
in my mind is, perhaps, even more important than college costs
and financial aid, which is that all the data and research we have
compiled shows that completion of rigorous academic course work
is absolutely essential to student achievement. The problem is
making sure that these courses are available to students and that
students are allowed to take them and succeed.

We have a lot of experience working with school districts around
the country the last five years, and I'm delighted to report, as one
of the charts shows, that, for example, in three of our sites in Prov-
idence, Rhode Island, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and San Jose, Califor-
nia, we are moving all students 100 percent into algebra and the
higher level math courses, which we think is going to have tremen-
dous results in both their high school completion rate and college
going rate.

In addition to the academic preparation, we are providing lots of
guidance and counseling. Counselors, particularly in California, are
more and more a vanishing breed, but that is absolutely important
for low-income students.

I raise this issue in the context of my remarks on student aid,
not only because of its general importance, but because part of
Title IV of the Student Financial Aid Act is devoted to counseling
and academic preparation. The Federal TRIO programs are part of
Title IV. Their purpose is to identify qualified individuals from dis-
advantaged backgrounds and prepare them for postsecondary edu-
cation.

Therefore, Mr. Chairman, as you look forward to reauthorization
next year, I encourage you to look at academic preparation and col-
lege information, as well as student financial information, as key
ingredients to access to and success in postsecondary education.

Thank you very much.
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Chairman McKE0N. Thank you, Mr. Childers.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Childers follows:]

STATEMENT OF JOHN B. CHILDERS

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I am very pleased to have the op-
portunity to share with you some of what we have learned at the College Board
about student financing of postsecondary education and about the academic prepa-
ration and counseling students need to succeed in college. I concentrate on these two
areas because they are vital to student successwithout both adequate financial
support and academic preparation, students cannot meet their educational goals.

The College Board is a national membership association of 3,000 schools, colleges,
universities, educational systems and organizations that focuses on the transition
from high school to college. Along with sponsoring familiar programs such as the
SAT and Advanced Placement, we conduct a great deal of research on college costs
and financial aid and on the impact of rigorous course work and college counseling
on student achievement. Using the charts attached to this statement, I will summa-
rize some of the conclusions we have drawn from our research efforts in these two
areas.
College Cost and Financial Aid

The media has paid a great deal of attention recently to the rising cost of college,
and with good reason. Since 1980, college costs have nsen at double and sometimes
triple the rate of inflation, while family income has remained stagnant (Figure One).
At private institutions, costs have increased 90 percent over the past 15 years in
inflation adjusted terms, at public institutions the increase has been 100 percent,
but median family income has only kept pace with inflation, rising just 5 percent.

The problem of rising college costs is real, but it should be placed in perspective.
Forty-five percent of postsecondary students attend community colleges, where tui-
tion averages $1,200 per year. Another 30 percent attend public four year institu-
tions, which average $2,800 for tuition and fees (Figure Two). Further, almost half
of all private colleges and universities charge below $10,000 for tuition and fees
(Figure Three). By focusing on the highest priced institutions, the media has over-
stated the problem.

Nonetheless, institutions recognize that they cannot continue to increase their
prices at such a rapid rate and many are taking steps to downsize and restructure,
to deliver instruction more efficiently using technology, and to raise private funds
to augment their student aid budgets.

The other side of the college financing equation is student aid. The College Board
produces an annual survey that summarizes aid available to students, Trends in
Student Aid; a copy of the most recent report is attached to this statement. Over
the past 20 years, the amount of aid awarded to students from public and private
sources has increased by 60 percent in inflation-adjusted dollars. Nonetheless, gaps
in college participation by income remain as wide today as they were in 1980 (Fig-
ure Four). In 1992, the last year for which data is available, 86 percent of dependent
18 to 24 year old high school graduates in the highest family income quartile were
either currently enrolled or had enrolled in higher education. The corresponding sta-
tistic for those in the lowest income quartile was 52 percent, a gap of 34 percentage
points. In 1980, this gap was 27 percentage points.

Part of the explanation for this continuing disparity must lie in the shifting com-
position of student aid. In 1975, grants peaked at 80 percent of aid awarded to stu-
dents from all sources. Last year, 43 percent of all aid awarded was in the form
of grants (Figure Five). Federal loans now dominate the student aid system; they
represent 56 percent of the aid available from all sources.

This shift from grants to loans is due primarily to changes in federal funding of
Pell Grants and to expansions in the guaranteed student loan program. Figure Six
illustrates this point; funding for Pell Grants and Campus-Based aid has changed
very little in inflation-adjusted terms, while loan volume has increased dramatically.
The shift from grants to loans falls hardest on the neediest students. In 1975, the
maximum Pell award covered almost 40 percent of tuition, room, and board at pri-
vate colleges; today, the maximum award covers 15 percent of these charges and 36
percent of the same items at public colleges and universities (Figure Seven).

Despite the effect of changes in student aid on low income students, most stories
in 4110 media f^cue, on the growing indebtedness of mid-"e income students. The
most up-to-date information, which predates the 1992 reauthorization of the Higher
Education Act, indicates that less than 40 percent of all undergraduate students
leave college with some student loan debt and that the average debt incurred is ap-
proximately $6,400. This data does not reflect changes since the 1992 reauthoriza-
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tion; the National Center for Education Statistics is currently collecting updated in-
formation on student indebtedness that should be available one year from now.

This information will be very important because student loan volume has jumped
by 50 percent since the 1992 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act (Figure
Eight). This dramatic growth was due to increased loan limits, the introduction of
unsubsidized Stafford loans, and changes in need analysis enacted in 1992. A closer
look at this trend reveals that this jump in loan volume may not have caused a
widespread crisis of student indebtedness.

The influence of the changes enacted in '92 is illustrated by Figures Nine and
Ten. Figure Nine tracks the average Stafford subsidized loan since 1985. After '92,
the average loan did increase. However, over the past ten years, this average has
fluctuated very little in real terms, ranging from approximately $3,000 to $3,250.

Much more dramatic was the increase in the number of Stafford subsidized and,
especially, unsubsidized loans (Figure Ten). Prior to the '92 reauthorization, only
independent undergraduates and graduate students could borrow through the
unsubsidized SLS program. Beginning in 1993-94, dependent undergraduate stu-
dents who are ineligible for a subsidized Stafford loan became eligible for the new
unsubsidized Stafford program. These students have taken full advantage of this
newly available credit. In 1992, less than one million SLS loans were made; in 1994,
students took out almost 2.1 million unsubsidized Stafford loans.

It is important to remember that these borrowers are primarily middle income de-
pendent students who cannot qualify for a subsidized Stafford. The run-up in stu-
dent loan volume is caused more by a larger pool of students in the loan program
than by a dramatic increase in per student borrowing.

This data should not suggest, however, that excess borrowing is not a problem for
some students. Clearly, low income students, academically at-nsk students who may
not finish their degrees, and students in low paying fields all are placed in financial
jeopardy when they rely on loans to finance their postsecondary education.

In sum, what do these numbers tell us about the state of college financing? First,
college costs are a growing problem, but many institutions remain quite affordable.
Second, despite the efforts of the Federal government, states, and institutions to in-
crease the amount of aid available to students, loans have replaced grants as the
centerpiece of student aid, decreasing college affordability for the most needy stu-
dents. Finally, while the dramatic recent increase in loan volume may have serious
consequences for certain groups of students, it is primarily caused by an influx of
new, middle-income borrowers into the student loan system.
Academic Preparation and College Counseling

The second area I'd like to address is, in my mind, even more important than col-
lege costs and financial aid. At the College Board, we collect a great deal of data
from students when they register for our tests, including detailed information on
their high school course work. We also operate a national school reform program,
EQUITY 2000, premised on the notion that math is the key to the college-bound
curriculum and that all students can and must learn key mathematical concepts
from Algebra and Geometry. Finally, we have conducted additional research on our
SAT seniors population to determine factors that are associated with improved col-
lege attendance by low income students.

All of this data and research has reaffirmed our belief that completion of rigorous
academic course work in high school is absolutely essential to success in college. Av-
erage SAT scores increase in step with the total amount of academic course work
students complete (Figure Eleven). Further, the type of courses students take makes
a great deal of difference in their achievement. For example, students who take Cal-
culus score over 100 points higher on the SAT Mathematics exam than those who
have only completed Algebra (Figure Twelve).

The problem, of course, is moving students into these demanding courses and
helping them to succeed once there. Even among college bound SAT takers, less
than half take Physics or Precalculus (Figure Thirteen). The College Board's EQ-
UITY 2000 national school reform project was created to define steps that school
districts must take to move all students into rigorous academic course work. After
four years of teacher retraining, Saturday academies, and parent workshops, among
many other activities, the results are very encouraging. In Providence, Milwaukee,
and San Jose, for example, all ninth graders in the public schools now take Algebra
I or a higher level math course compared to much lower rates before the program
began (Figure Fourteen).

A key component of EQUITY 2000 has been guidance and counseling. Students
whose parents did not attend college are especially in need of college admission and
financial aid information. Our research has shown that 85 percent of low income
students who take the SAT saw a counselor at least two or three times during their
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junior and senior years of high school to discuss their future. In most public schools,
counselors are spread so thin that it is very difficultif not impossibleto provide
that kind of encouragement, information, and guidance.

I raise this issue in the context of my remarks on student financial aid, not only
due to its general importance, but also because part of Title N is devoted to coun-
seling and academic preparation.

The federal TRIO programs are part of Title N; their purpose is to identify quali-
fied individuals from disadvantaged backgrounds, prepare them for postsecondary
education, and provide support services to nelp them complete a certificate or degree
program. Unfortunately, the TRIO programs are able to serve only 7 percent of the
eligible population.

Therefore, Mr. Chairman, as you prepare recommendations for reauthorization of
the Higher Education Act next year, I encourage you to regard academic prepara-
tion and college information, as well as student financial aid, as key ingredients in
access to, and success in, postsecondary education.
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INTRODUCTION

Trends in Student Aid presents annual data on the
amount of financial assistance available to help
students pay the tuition, room and board, and other
costs of attendance in postsecondary education.

This publication is based on a data series the
College Board began more than ten years ago in an
effort to assemble comparable statistics over time on
the major providers of student aid: the federal
government, state governments, and educational
institutions themselves)

To collect comparable data from existing sources
on an annual basis, we have had to accept several
less-than-ideal statistical tradeoffs and restrictions:

Because many available data sources do not
separate assistance for undergraduate and
graduate students, this report necessarily
describes aid for both. The report gives a
consistent picture over time of aid available
to students in general; however, the impact
of this aid may be different for graduate and
undergraduate students.
Likewise, because no reliable annual
statistics exist for aid provided through state
or institutional loan and work-study
programs, our state and institutional figures
refer to grant assistance only. We are also
unable to capture the contributions made by
students from earnings that are not the

. result of formal work-study job programs.
Finally, our data series does not include
private nonfederally-guaranteed borrowing
programs for families.

Despite these limitations, the data that follow
represent virtually all federal aid and the vast
majority of state and institutional assistance available
to students in postsecondary education. To
encourage accurate interpretation of trends, we
report all data in constant (adjusted for inflation)
dollars, as well as in current dollars. This removes the
statistical changes that are due to the fluctuating
value of the dollar rather than to actual program
changes.

In order to put student aid trends in context, we
report on changes in the costs of attending college
and in family incomes. To make the three different
data series comparable, we adjust all three by the
same inflation measure (the consumer price index).
To determine if college is becoming more or less
affordable, one must look at all three measures (costs,
family ability to pay, and available aid) together.
Ideally, we would present statistics on each of these
by postsecondary sector, but data on incomes and aid

(unlike data on costs) are unavailable by institutional

type.
Ideally, too, we would report trends on a per-

student as well as on an aggregate basis, to separate
out program growth that reflects growth in the
student population from program changes that
reflect real increases in aid for each enrolled student.
In fact, our original publication, covering the years
1963 to 1983, did this. For most of that period,
however, student aid went largely to students in the
traditional collegiate sector; so available statistics on
enrollment in public and private nonprofit
institutions were adequate. Since the early 1980s
growing numbers of students in proprietary (for-
profit) schools have participated in aid programs.
Per-student calculations, then, should be based on
postsecondary enrollments in all three sectors; and
unfortunately, these are not available.

Tables 1 to 7 provide a variety of statistics on
student aid, family income, and college costs for the
period 1985-86 through 1994-95. Appendix tables A
and B provide basic program statistics for all years in
our data base back to 1963-64, for those who wish to
calculate trends over longer periods than described in
this update. As always, we continue to refine our
coverage of programs and to update previously-
reported statistics when better data become available.

Two changes in coverage and format mark this
year's report. First, we include additional detailed
information on the number of loans, and amount per
loan, in the Federal Family Education Loan Program
(FFELP) and the Ford Direct Student Loan Program
(FDSLP). Second, we no longer report annual federal
apppropriations for student aid programs (Table 3 in
previous reports). The Credit Reform Act of 1992
substantially changed the way the federal
government accounts for funds spent on loan
programs. Because of these changes, it has become
impossible to provide comparable trend data on
federal apppropriations for student loans. Given that
the value of the appropriations data is seriously
compromised by this change, we have decided to
discontinue this data series.

Sac
I This survey only for direct aid to students, not the
indirect subsidies provided in the form of relatively low tuition
charged by public institutions. States contribute the most such
indirect support for students. But the federal government remains
the largest provider of direct aid to help students meet their COWS of
attendance, including tuition. tees, living costs, transportation,
books, and supplies.
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Total available student aid in 1994-95 was 546.8
billion. After adjusting for inflation, this amount is 68
percent higher than a decade ago and 8 percent
higher than in 1993-94. (Tables 1 and 2)

The federal government provided 75 percent of
available student aid in 1994-95. Ten years ago, the
federal share was 80 percent. Institutional and other
grants have grown from 13 to 19 percent of the total
over this some period, with state grants remaining
steady at 6 percent. (Table 1 and Appendix A)

Continuing the trend of the past fifteen years, the
largest single source of aid in 1994-95 was federal
loans. The federal loan programs provided $26 billion
in aid to students, 56 percent of all available aid.
Over 7.7 million loans were made to students and
parents through federal loan programs in 1994-95.
(Tables 4 and 6)

Most of these loans are subsidized to the extent that
the government pays the interest on them while
borrowers are enrolled in school. However, a
growing share of student loans are now
unsubsidized, adding in- school interest charges to
the borrower's total cost of each loan., In 1994-95,
students borrowed $15.2 billion m subsidized loans
and $7.6 billion in unsubsidized loans. (Table 1)

The number of students borrowing unsubsidized
loans increased 178 percent between 1993-94 and
1994-95, rising from 751,000 borrowers to over two
million borrowers.2 (Table 4)

In contrast, growth in the larger subsidized loan
program was moderate. Borrowing in this program
rose by 7.5 percent in 1994-95 while the number of
borrowers increased by only 24,000. (Tables 1 and 4)

Student loans are administered through two major
programs, the Federal Family Education Loan
Program and the Ford Direct Student Loan Program.
The Federal Family Education Loan Program, in
which students borrow from banks and the federal
government guarantees the funds, is by far the
largest federal student aid program. Borrowing in the
Federal Family Education Loan Program increased 8
percent, from $21.2 billion in 1993-94 to $22.9 billion
in 1994-95. (Tablet)

The Ford Direct Student Loan program, created by
the Student Loan Reform Act of 1993, began
disbursing loans in 1994 -95. 1n this program, the U.S.

Treasury, rather than private lenders, provide loan
capital. Students borrowed $1.7 billion through this
program, 7 percent of generally-available federal
loans. (Table I)

Although the number of parents borrowing Parent
Loans for Undergraduate Students showed no
change, the average loan increased 14 percent, from
$4,531 in 1993-94 to $5,181 in 1994-95. (Table 4)

In contrast to loans, federal grant aid to students
showed no increase over the past year. In particular,
the Pell Grant program showed a slight decrease
from $5.652 billion awarded in 1993-94 to $5.650
billion in 1994-95. As a result of slow growth in the
major federal grant programs, and dramatic recent
increases in student borrowing, grants now represent
43 percent of total federal, state, and institutional
student aid. A decade earlier, grants and loans
represented 48 and 49 perCent of total aid,
respectively. (Tables 1 and 6)

The borrowing power of the maximum Pell Grant
has declined steadily over the past decade. In
1985-86, the maximum Pell Grant covered 20 percent
of average cost of attendance at private universities
and half of cost of attendance at public universities.
In 1994-95, the share of cost of attendance covered by
the Pell maximum dropped to 10 percent and one
third, respectively. (Tables 3 and 7, Figure 3)

The share of funds going to proprietary school
students from the two largest federal aid programs,
Pell Grants and Stafford subsidized loans, grew
substantially prior to 1987, then began to decline. The
proportion of Pell Grants going to proprietary
students peaked at 27 percent in academic year 1987-
88 and fell to 15 percent in 1993-94. Likewise, the
percentage of Stafford subsidized loan dollars going
to proprietary students peaked at 35 percent in fiscal
year 1987 and fell to 10 percent in 1993. (Table 5)

Notes:

for subsidized loans is determined by student med. defined
as the difference between the cost of college attendance and a student's
rand their parents') ability to pay that cost. Unsubsidiaed loans are
available to all students, regardless of need. Students may borrow up to
$23.000 in subsidized and unsububsidized loans as undergraduates.

It M important to note that the dramatic increase in the new un-
subsidised program is due in part to the discontinuation of the
Supplemental Loans for Students program (SUL which previously
provided unsubsidized Mans to graduate and professional students.
Many students who would have borrowed through SLS have shifted to
the new unsubsidised program.

3
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TABLE 1

Aid Awarded to Postsecondary Students in Current Dollars

(in Millions)

Federally Supported

Academic Year

Estimated Preliminary
Programs 1985-86 1986-87 1987-88 1988-89 1989-90 1990-91 1991-92 1992-93 1993-94 1994-95

Generally Available Aid
Pell Grants 3,567 3,441 3,736 4,471 4,768 4,910 5,777 6,177 5,652 5,650
SEOG 410 400 419 422 445 453 498 554 564 554
SSIG 76 73 75 72 71 59 62 71 72 73

CWS 656 629 63 625 663 728 760 780 77 760

Perkins Loans 703 763 805 874 903 870 868 892 91 972
Income Contingent Loans 0 0 5 6 6 5 0
Ford Direct Student Loans 0 0 0 0 0 1,737
(Subsidized Stafford Loans) 0 0 0 0 0 (1,089)
(Unsubsidized Stafford Loans) 0 0 0 0 (478)
(PLUS) 0 0 0 (170)

Family Education Loans 8,839 9,102 11,38 11,985 12,151 12,669 13,99 14,914 21,182 22,936
(Subsidized Stafford loans) (8,328) (8,330) (9,1 (9,319) (9,508) (10,002) (10,805) (10,937) (14,123) (14,104)
(Unsubsidized Stafford loans) 0 0 0 0 0 (323) (2,033) (7,139)
(SLS) (269) (520) (1,830) (2.015) (1,835) (1,710) (2,022) (2,375) (3,477) (32)

(PLUS) (242) (252) (436) (651) (808) (957) (1,165) (1,279) (1550) (1,660)

Subtotal 14,251 14,408 17,060 18,455 19,007 19,694 21,963 23,392 29,161 32,681
Specially Directed Aid

Veterans 864 783 762 724 790 679 876 1,037 1,192 1,410

Military 342 361 349 341 364 369 394 393 405 421

Other Grants 67 74 92 102 110 118 160 162 168 186

Other Loans 372 316 298 332 355 345 367 411 456 405

Subtotal 1,646 1,534 1,502 1,498 1,620 1,510 1,796 2,073 2,221 2,423

Total Federal Aid 15,897 15,942 18,562 19,952 20,627 21,204 23,759 25,395 31,382 35,104

State Grant Programs 1,311 1,432 1,503 1,581 1,719 1,860 1,968 2.125 2.375 2,665

Institutional and Other Grants 2,962 3,371 3,808 3,978 4,951 5,761 6,679 7,485 8,233 9,057

Total Federal, State, and
Institutional Aid 217,169 20,745 23,873 25,511 27,297 28,825 32.406 35,006 41,990 46,826

Notes for Table 1

Several of the federally-supponed programs include mull amounts of funding from
sources other than the federal government. For example, College Work-Study
(CWS) includes contributions by institutions, although most of the funds in the

federal. Perkinsfedloanseral (until 1:87.falled.N;in.orti al 7= Student t Lona:
ann

collections from borrowers.

The monies moored under federally supported aid as State Student Incentive Grant
(SSIG) expeMitures are federal monies only; the state sham n included under the
'state grants' category. Likewise, institutional matching funds required by the
Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant (SEOG) program since 1989-90 are
reported under 'institutional and other grants'.

The Income Contingent Loan Program was discontinued after 1992-93.

The Ford Direct Student Loan Program began disbursing loans in academic year
1994-9S. It includes Stafford Subsidized and Unsubsidized Loans and Parent Loans
for Undergraduate Students (PLUS). Under this progr am. loans are provided
directly to students by the federal gosernmem. using funds from the US. Treasury.

The Federal Family Education Loan Program (until 1992 Guaranteed Student
LosinsL which includes Stafford Subsidized and Unsubsidised Student Loans. PLUS
and Supplemental Loans for Students (SIS), din on PnYtite sources of capitol. The
federal government subsidizes interest payments and guarantees repayment of
defaulted loans. Amounts reported here represent loan commitments rather than
actual amounts loaned, but differences between the two are insignificant. Until 51.5
was created by the 1986 Amendments to the Higher Education Act supplemental
loans were provided to students under the Auxiliary Loans to Assist Students
(ALAS) program. ALAS loans ate shown on the SLS line for 1985-86 to 1986-87. The
SLS program has been discontinued; academic year 1994-95 is the last year in which
loans were disbursed through this program

Veterans Benefits are payments for postsecondary education and training to
veterans and their dependents authorized under Chapters 30.31. 32 34, 35, and 106
of the U. S. Code. These are often referred to as 'readjustment benefits' because
they are designed to reacclimate veterans to civilian life. Federal contributions to
Chapter 34, the Veterans' Educational Assistance portion of the PostKorean Conflict
Educational Assistance Program, were terminated in 1990. After 1990, remaining
eligible veterans were funded through chapter 30.

Military expenditures for education are reported for three types of programs: the F.
Edward Hebert Armed Forces Health Profession Scholarship Program, Reserve
Officers' Trairdng Corps programs for the Air Force, Army, and Navy/Marines, and
higher education tuition assistance for the active duty Armed Forces.

The other grants category includes Higher Education Grants for Indian Students,
Fellowships for Mien Students, American Indian Scholarships Irdian Health Service
Scholarships, National Science Foundation pre-doctoral fellowships (minority and
general graduate). National Health Service Corps Scholanhips, Natrnsl Instume of
allwealarts7htocurthiendivc=lonawards iztuting Nursing Fellow...nut,

Jacob
a fellzslusz

Fellovnhip Pro the Pout Dotiug Teacher Scholanhip Program, the Robert C.
Byrd Honors arship Program. and college grants prcnsded to volunteers in the
Americorps and Leant and Serve America national service program..

Other loans include amounts loaned under the Health Professions Student Loan
Program. the Health Education Assistance loan Program and the Nursing Student
Loan Progruh.

Institutional awards include. in addition to awards from the institution's own funds.
echolarships. fellowships. and trainee stipends from government and private
programs that allow the institution to select the recipient. Data for 1993-94 and
beyond are estimates.
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TABLE 2

Aid Awarded to Postsecondary Students in Constant 1994 Dollars

(in Millions)
Academic Year

Federally Supported Estimated Preliminary
Programs 1985-86 1986-87 1987-88 1988-89 1989-90 1990-91 1991-92 1992-9 1993-94 1994-95
Generally Available Aid

Pen Grants 4,866 4,590 4,786 5.477 5,570 5.436 6,199 6.42 5,731 5,570
SEOG 559 533 537 518 520 501 535 57 572 546
SSIG 103 97 97. 89 83 65 67 7 73 72
ons 895 839 814 766 775 806 815 81 782 749
Perkins Loans 959 1,01 1,031 1,070 1,054 964 93 928 93 958
Income Contingent Loam 0 6 6 6 0
Ford Direct Student Loans 0 0 0 0 1,712
(Subsidized Stafford Loans) 0 0 0 0 (1,073)
(Unsubsidized Stafford Loam) 0 0 0 0 (471)
(PLUS) 0 0 0 0

Family Education Loans 12,056 12,1 14,584 14,681 14,196 14,028 15,01 15,51 21,480 g811
(Subsidized Stafford Loans) (11,360) (11,1 ) (11,68 ) (11,415) (11,108) (11,075) (11,594) (11,38 ) (14,32 ) (13,906)
(Unsubsidised Stafford Loam) 0 0 0 0 (336) (2,06) (7,039)
(S1-5) (367) (694) (2,344) (2,468) (2,143) (1,894) (2170) (2,471) (3,526) (32)
(PLUS) (330) (336) (559) (797) (944) (1,059) (1,250) (1,331) (1,572) (1,637)

Subtotal 19,439 19,219 21,854 22406 22,206 21,806 23,567 24,340 29,571 32,221
Specially Directed Aid

Veterans 1,178 1,015 976 887 923 752 940 1,079 1,209 1,390
Military 467 481 447 417 426 108 422 409 411 415
Other Grants 92 98 118 125 128 130 171 169 170 184
Other Loans 508 422 382 407 415 382 394 428 462 400

Subtotal 2.245 2,046 1,924 1,835 1,892 1,672 1,927 2,085 2,252 2,388
Total Federal Aid 21,684 21,265 23,778 24,441 24,098 23,479 25,494 26,425 31,823 34,610

State Grant Programs 1,788 1,911 1,926 1,936 2,008 2,059 2.112 2.212 2.408 2,628

institutional and Other Grants 4,040 4,496 4,878 4,873 5,784 6,379 7,166 7,788 8,349 8,929

Total Federal, State, and
Institutional Ald 27,511 27,672 30,581 31,250 31,890 31,917 34,772 36,425 42,580 46,167

Notes for Table 2

Constant dollar figures are based on data in Table I. For an explanation of constant dollar conversions. sett page IS.

FIGURE 2
Estimated Student Aid by Source for Academic
Year 1994-95 (Current Dollars in Millions)

Federal Pell Grants
(15,650)

Federal Campus -Based
($2,286)

Institutional and Other Grants
($9,057)

Notes to Figure 2 State Grant Programs
Bawd on Table I. ($2,665)
'Federal Loud' includes
Federal Family Education Other Federal ProgramsLoam andand Ford Direct
Student Loans. 'Other (S2,496)
Federal Programs' In.
eludes (SIG, Military,
Other Grants, and Other

Federal Loans
($24,673)

Total Aid Awarded
($46,826)
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TABLE 3

Total Cost of Attendance and Income; Tuition

and Fees
Current Dollars

Cost of Attendance Income .

Private

University
Private

FourYear
Public

University Four-Year

Public Public
Two-Year

Disposable
Personal

(Per Capital

Median
Family

985-86 11,034 8,551 4,146 3,637 2,981 12,324 27,735

986-87 12,278 9,276 4,470 3,891 2,988 13,000 29,458

987-88 13,075 9,854 4,618 4,250 3,066 13,528 30,970

988-89 14,073 10,620 4,905 4525 3,183 14,457 32,191

989-90 15,098 11,375 5,324 4,723 3,299 15,291 34,213

990-91 16503 12,221 5584 5,003 3,468 16,173 35,353

991-92 17,779 13,189 6,051 5,460 3,623 16,706 35,939

992-93 18,898 13,881 6,442 5,740 3,799 17,580 36,812

993-94 20,027 14,702 6,709 6,159 4,006 18,177 36,959

994-95 21,152 15,528 7,035 6,454 4,119 18,963 N.A.

Constant 1994 Dollars

Cost of Attendance Income

Disposable

Private Private Public Poblic Public Personal Median

University Four-Year University Four-Year Two-Year (Per Capital Family

1985-86 15,051 11,664 5,655 4,961 4,066 17,081 38,268

1986-87 16,377 12.373 5,962 5,190 3,986 17,604 39,891

1987-88 16,749 12.623 5,916 5,444 3,928 17,666 40,443

1988-89 17,239 13,009 6,008 5,543 3,899 18,140 40,391

1989-90 17,639 13,289 6,220 5,518 3,854 18,303 40,951

1990-91 18,273 13,532 6,183 5,540 3,840 18,354 40.120

1991-92 19,077 14,152 6,493 5,859 3,888 18,191 39,134

1992-93 19,664 14,444 6,703 5,973 3,953 18579 38,905

1993-94 20,309 14,909 6,803 6.246 4.062 18,658 37,937

1994-95 20,854 15,310 6,936 6,363 4,061 18,963 N.A.

Tuition and Fees

Current Dollars Constant 1994 Dollars

Private Private Public Public Public Private Private Public Public Public

University Four-Yew University Four-Year Two-Year University Four-Year University FourYear Two-Year

985-86 7,374 5,641 1,536 1,157 641 10,058 7,694 2,095 1,578 874

986-87 8,118 6,171 1,651 1,248 660 10,828 8,231 2,202 1,665 880

987-88 8,771 6,574 1,726 1,407 706 11,236 8,421 7.211 1,802 904

988-89 9,451 7,172 1,846 1515 730 11577 8,785 2,261 1,856 894

989-90 10,348 7,778 2.035 1,608 756 12,099 9,087 2377 1,879 883

990-91 11,379 8,389 2,159 1,707 824 12,599 9,289 2.391 1,890 912

991-92 12.192 9,053 2.410 1,933 937 13,082 9,714 2,586 2,074 1,005

992-93 13,055 9,533 2,604 2,192 1,025 13584 9,920 2,710 2,281 1,067

993-94 13,812 10,151 2,822 2,368 1,114 14,006 10,294 2,862 2,401 1,130

994-95 14,693 10,798 2990 2.509 1,161 14,486 10,646 2,948 2,474 1,145

Notes for Table 3

Cost of attendance includes tuition, fees, and room and board costs. Four.
year institutions offer undergraduate programs only: universities offer
graduate as well as undergraduate programs.

Beginning in 1986-87 baud data art boned on 20 meals per week. rather
than on meals served 7 days a week. Thus, they are higher but reflect a
more accurate accounting of total board costs. Data for 1994-95 are

preliminary. Note that these averages apply to undergraduate costs only,
and are weighted by enmity,ent to reflect average cost to the student
rather than average Mum by the institution.

Income data are for the calendar year in which the academic year begins.

N.A. Not Available.

CM



48

TABLE 4

Number of Recipients and Aid Per Recipient

(in Current and Constant 1994 Dollars)

Federal Pell Grant Program Federal SEOG Program

Recipients Aid per Recipient Recipients Aid per Recipient

Number
WOW

Current
Dollars

Constant

Dollars
Number

(003)

Current Constant
DoRm Dollars

1985-66 2,813 1,268 1,729 686 598 815
1986-87 2.660 1,294 1,726 631 633 844
1987-88 2,882 1,297 1,661 635 659 845
1988 -89 3,198 1,398 1,712 679 622 762
1989-90 3,322 1,435 1,677 728 612 715
1990-91 3,405 1,442 1597 761 595 659
1991-92 3,781 1,528 1,640 881 565 607
1992-93 4,177 1,479 1,539 976 567 590
1993 -94 3,743 1,510 1,531 1,068 529 536
1994-95 3,717 1,520 1,499 991 559 551

Federal CWS Program Federal Perkins Loan Program

Recipients Aid per Recipient Recipients Aid per Recipient

Number Current Constant Number Current Constant
10001 Dollars Dollars 40001 Dollars Dollars

1985-86 728 901 1,228 701 1,003 1,368
1986-87 690 912 1,217 716 1,067 1,423
1987-88 686 926 1,187 674 1,195 1,531
1988-89 673 930 1,139 692 1,263 1,546
1989-90 677 980 1,145 696 1,297 1,515
1990-91 687 1,059 1,172 660 1,318 1,460
1991-92 697 1,090 1,169 654 1,326 1,423
1992-93 714 1,092 1,136 669 1,333 1,387
1993-94 712 1,084 1,099 685 1,342 1,360
1994-95 713 1,066 1,051 724 1,343 1,324

State Grant and SSIG Programs

Recipients Aid per Recipient

Number Current Constant
IOW Dollars Dollars

1985-86 1,583 876 1,195

1986-87 1,531 983 1,311

1987-88 1,554 1,016 1,302

1988-89 1,571 1,052 1,288

1989-90 1,605 1,115 1,303

1990-91 1,673 1,147 1,270

1991-92 1,652 1,229 1,319

1992-93 1,739 1,263 1,315

1993-44 1,859 1317 1,335

1994-95 1,957 1,399 1,380

52



49

TABLE 4 (continued)

Number of Loans and Amount per Loan

(in Current and Constant 1994 Dollars)

Federal Family Education Loan Program

Stafford Subsidized Stafford Unsubsidised

Loans Amount per Loan Loans Amount per Loan

Number Current Constant Number Current Constant
10001 Dollars Dollars MO/ Dollars Dollars

1985-86 3,536 2,355 3,212 N/A N/A N/A
198627 3,499 2,381 3,175 N/A N/A N/A
1987-88 3,595 2,537 3,250 N/A N/A N/A
1988-89 3,626 2,570 3,148 N/A N/A N/A
1989-90 3,619 2,627 3,070 N/A N/A N/A
1990-91 3,689 2,712 3,002 N/A N/A N/A
1991-92 3,889 2.778 2,981 N/A N/A N/A
1992-93 3,883 2,817 2,931 159 2,035 2.118

1993-94 4,527 3,120 3,163 751 2,708 2,746

1994-95 4,257 3,313 3,267 1,954 3,653 3,602

PLUS SLS

Loans Amount per Loan Loans Amount per Loan

Number Current Constant Number Current Constant
IOW Dollars Dollars MOM Dollan Dollars

985-86 91 2.650 3,615 102 2,638 3,598

986-87 91 2.761 3,683 191 2.724 3,633

987-88 147 2,966 3,799 629 2,907 3,724

988-89 212 3,075 3,766 757 2462 3,261

989-90 257 3,140 3,669 670 2.738 3,198

990-91 298 3,213 3,558 601 2,847 3,152

991-92 356 3,270 3,509 690 2.932 3,147

992-93 388 3,300 3,434 761 3,120 3,246

993-94 342 4.531 4,595 885 3,930 3,985

994-95 321 5,178 5,105 10 3,337 3,290

Ford Direct Student Loan Program

Stafford Subsidised Stafford Unsubsidised

Loans Amount per Loan Loans Amount per Loan

Number Current Constant Number Current Constant

WOO) Dollars Dollars WOW Dollan Donut
1994-95 294 3,701 3,649 132 3,617 3,566

PLUS

Loans Amount per Loan

Number Current Constant

MOM Dollars Dollars
1994-95 30 5,749 5,668

Notes for Table 4

The number of 199495 recipients cd %IC and state grants Is estimated.

because the Department of Eduotion reports the number of loam in the
Federal Family Education and Fond Men Student Loan programs at
than the number of recipients, and because student may remise more
than one loan frorn these programs in a given year, we report the number
of loans.

199491 Is the last year of the 51$ program and the first year loans were
made by the Ford Direct Student Loan Program.

The numbers of loans in SLS and PLUS programs In 1911546 had rob.
estimated from fiscal year data.

N.A. Not Applicable.
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TABLE 5

Percentage Distribution of Aid from the Federal Pell,
Campus-Based, and Family Education Loan Programs
By Type of Institution, 1985-86 to 1993-94

Academic Year

Estimated
Federal Pell Program 1985-86 1986-87 1987-88 1988-89 1989-90 1990-91 1991-92 1992-93 1993-94

Public Institutions 55.8 54.4 533 553 56.9 58.1 59.8 620 659
Two-Year (18.8) (18.7) (185) (19.7) (21.1) (22.6) (243) (25.7) (30.0)
Four-Year (37.0) (35.7) (34.8) (35.6) (35.8) (353) (35.5) (36.3) (35.9)

Private Institutions 220 20.8 20.1 20.2 20.0 19.8 19.6 193 18.8
Proprietary Institutions 22.2 24.8 26.6 245 23.1 22.1 20.7 18.5 153
Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 1010 100.0 100.0

Federal Campus- Estimated
limed Programs 1985-86 1986-87 1987-88 1988-89 1989-90 1990-91 1991-92 1992-93 1993-94

Public Institutions 51.4 51.5 50.8 51.1 503 50.0 495 49.1 49.6
Two-Year (9.8) (9.7) (9.0) (8.9) (8.8) (9.2) (93) (9.7) (9.6)
Four-Year (41.6) (41.8) (41.8) (42.1) (41.4) (40.8) (40.2) (39.4) (40.0)

Private Institutions 433 42.9 43.4 43.8 443 44.7 45.0 45.5 453
Proprietary Institution 53 5.6 5.8 5.2 5.4 5.2 5.5 5.5 5.1

Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 1010 1010 1000 100.0 100.0

Fiscal Year

nu. Stafford Subsidized Estimated
P.P.., 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993

Public Institutions 45.7 42.1 35.1 36.4 37.8 42.2 45.9 483 523
Two-Year (85) (11.4) (8.0) (5.8) (5.7) (5.8) (63) (6.4) (63)
Four-Year (37.2) (30.7) (27.1) (30.6) (32.1) (36.4) (39.6) (41.9) (462)

Private Institutions 320 303 300 33.7 33.9 36.2 373 38.0 37.6
Proprietary Institutions 72.3 27.6 34.9 29.9 27.2 21.6 16.8 13.7 9.9

Total 100.0 1010 103.0 1010 100.0 1000 100.0 103.0 100.0

Estimated
FFEL'PLUS Program 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993

Public Institutions 355 37.6 37.6 425 428 44.7 46.4 47.5 41.4
Two-Year (3.2) (3.2) (3.4) (4.1) (3.4) (3.4) (3.6) (3.7) (29)
Four-Year (323) (34.4) (342) (38.4) (39.4) (413) (428) (43.8) (385)

Private Institutions 483 41.2 33.9 30.9 31.4 33.5 35.2 36.1 42.1
Proprietary Institutions 16.2 21.2 285 26.6 25.8 21.8 18.4 16.4 165

Total 1010 100.0 1010 100.0 100.0 1000 100.0 100.0 100.0

Estimated
FFEL SLS Program 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993

Public Institutions 24.9 25.7 17.7 155 15.9 23.5 28.8 34.0 325
Two-Year (1.2) (1.2) (3.0) (3.8) (33) (3.8) (45) (5.6) (45)
Four-Year (23.7) (245) (14.7) (11.7) (12.6) (19.7) (243) (28.4) (28.0)

Private bu-titutions 69.8 66.1 322 23.0 24.9 36.1 41.9 42.1 49.1
Proprietary Institutions 53 8.2 50.1 615 59.2 40.4 29.3 23.9 18.4

Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 103.0 100.0

Notes for Table I

In this table. "four-year includes nonprofit institutken offering badselors
and /or graduate degrees. -Two-year includes non-profit instinniorn of
any other program length from six months to three years. 'Proprietary"
Men to private for-profit institutions.

FFELP distributions were only available for fiscal. not academic, years and
are based on a sample of borrowers for cads year. Comparable statistics
for the entire population are not available.
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TABLE 6

Grants, Loans, and Work in Current and Constant 1994
Dollars (in Millions) and as a Percentage of Total Aid

Current Dollars
Estimated

198546 1986-87 198748 1988-89 1989-90 199041 199142 1992-93 1993-44 1994-95

Grants 9,599 9,934 10,745 11,691 13,219 14,208 16,413 18,004 18,662 20,016

Loam 9,914 10,182 17.493 13,195 13,414 13,890 15,232 16,222 22.557 26,050

Work 656 629 635 625 663 728 760 780 771 760

Total Aid 20,169 20,745 23,873 25511 27,297 28,825 32.406 35,006 41,990 46,826

Constant 1994 Dollars

Estimated

198546 1986-87 1987-88 198849 1989-90 1990-91 1991-92 299243 1993-94 1994-95

Grants 13,093 13,251 13,764 14,320 15,444 15,732 17,612 18,734 18,924 19,734

Loans 13,523 13,581 16,004 16,163 15,672 15,380 16,345 16,879 22,874 25,684

Work 895 839 814 766 775 806 815 812 782 749

Total Aid 27,511 27,672 30,581 31,250 31,890 31,917 34,772 36,425 42,580 46,167

Percentage

Estimated

1985-86 1986-87 198748 198849 1989 -90 1990-91 1991-92 199243 1993-91 1994-95

Grants 48 48 45 46 48 49 51 51 44 43

Loans 49. 49 52 52 49 48 47 46 54 56

Work 3 3 3 2 2 3 2 2 2 2

Total Aid 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 180 433 100

Notes for Table 6

Based on data from IOW. 1 and 2.

The category 'grants' includes Pell Grants, SEOG, 5520. Veterans
Benefits, Military expenditures, Other Grants, Stan Grant Programs, and
Institutional and Other Grams, 'Lome includes all remaining program
except CWS. which makes up the 'work" component

Notes for Table 7

The 1992 Reauthorization of the Higher Education An eliminated the
percent cap on college costs beginning in 199194.

N.A.. Not Available
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TABLE 7

Description of Federal Pell Grant Awards
from 1973-74 to 1994-95

.Year

Authorized Maximum Awards Actual MAXIMUM Awards Actual Minimum Awards

Percent Cap

on Costs

Percent of

Recipients
Independent

Current
Dollars

Constant
Dollars

Current
Dollars

Constant
Dollars

Current
Dollars

Constant
Dollars

1979-74 1,400 4,342 452 1,402 50 176 50 13.3
1974-73 1,400 3,907 1,050 2,930 50 140 50 21.9
1975-76 1,4130 3,649 1,400 3,649 200 521 10 29.8
1976-77 1,400 3,447 1,400 3,447 200 492 50 38.3
1977-78 1,800 4,154 1,400 3231 200 462 50 385
1978-79 1,800 3,798 1,600 3,376 50 106 50 36.7.
1979-80 1,800 3,352 1,800 3,352 200 372 50 33.8
1980-81 1,800 3,083 1,750 2,997 150 . 257 50 40.6
1981-82 1,900 2,995 1,670 2,633 120 189 50 41.9
1982-83 2,100 3,175 1,800 2.721 50 76 50 45.9
1983-84 2,303 3,354 1,800 2,625 200 292 50 . 475
1984-83 2.500 3,508 1,900 2,666 200 281 50 48.6
1985-86 2.600 3,546 2,100 2,864 200 273 60 50.4
1986-87 2.600 3,468 2,100 2,801 100 133 60 53.9
1987-88 2,300 2,946 2,100 2690 200 256 60 575
1988-89 2.500 3,062 2.2130 2,695 200 245 60 57.9
1989-90 2.700 3,154 2,300 2,687 200 234 60 59.0
1990-91 2.900 3,211 2.300 2,547 100 III 60 61.1
1991-92 3,100 3,326 2.400 2575 203 215 60 615
1992-93 3,100 3,226 2.400 2,497 200 208 60 62.1
1993 -94 3,700 3,752 2,300 2,332 400 406 - 59.2
1994-95 3,900 3,845 2,300 2,268 400 394 - N.A.

S
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FIGURE 3
The Maximum Pell Grant as a Share of Cost of Attendance

Note@ to Firm 3
10 Private University

Based on Tables 3 and 7.

Academic Year 85 n 1985-86.

Private Form-Year
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NOTES &r.

SOURCES

Acronyms

55

CWS Federal College Work Study
FFELP Federal Family Education Loan

Program
ICL Income Contingent Loan Program

FDSLP William D. Ford Direct Student Loan
Program

PLUS Parent Loans to Undergraduate
Students

SEOC Federal Supplemental Educational
Opportunity Grant

SLS Supplemental Loans for Students
SSIG State Student Incentive Grant

Definitions

Academic Year:
Calendar year:
Fiscal year:

General Notes

July 1 to June 30
January 1 to December 31
October 1 to September 30

0 Details may not add to totals due to rounding.

0 Aid is reported by the academic year in which it is
awarded. When necessary, fiscal year data are
converted to the academic year equivalents by
reassigning the July through September
expenditures.

0 For a more detailed description of the programs
and past trends, see Trends in Student Aid: 1963 to
1983.

A Note on Constant Dollar Conversion

The Consumer Price Index for all urban dwellers (the
CPI-U) is used to adjust for inflation. Calendar, fiscal,
and academic year CPI's were used as appropriate.
The base year used for constant dollar conversions in
this publication is 1994, the latest year available.

Formula for Constant Dollar Conversion:

Constant (base year) Dollars

CPI for the
Current year dollars x base year

CPI for the
current year

Consumer Price Indexes (1982-84100)

Calendar year CPIs Academic Year CPIs

1985 207.5 1985-86 108.8

1986 109.6 1986-87 111.2

1987 113.6 1987-88 115.8

1988 118.3 1988-89 121.1

1989 124.0 1989-90. 127.0

1990 130.7 1990-91 134.0

1991 136.3 1991-92 138.3

1992 140.4 1992-93 142.6

1993 144.1 1993-94 146.5

1994 148.4 1994-95 150.5

SOURCES

Tables 1,2,4,5,6, and 7:

Campus-Based Aid (CWS, Perkins, and SEOC)

1994-95: unpublished data and estimates from the
Office of Student Financial Assistance, U.S.
Department of Education.

1985-86 to 1993-94: Office of Student Financial
Assistance, U.S. Department of Education, Campus-
Based Programs Annual Reports and Distribution of
Awards in the Campus-Based Program Reports.

Federal Family Education Loan and
Ford Direct Student Loan Programs

Unpublished data from the Office of Student
Financial Assistance, US. Department of Education.

Institutional and Other Aid

1992-93 to 1994 -95: Estimated by the College Board.

1986-87 to 1991-92: unpublished data from the
National Center for Education Statistim.

1985-86: National Center for Education Statistics,
U.S. Department of Education, Digest of Education
Statistics, 1991, Table 299, p. 303, with modification.
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Military

F. Edward Hebert Armed Forces Health Profession
Scholarship amounts were obtained from the Office
of the Assistant Secretary for Defense (Health
Affairs). ROTC program data were obtained
separately from the Air Force, Army, and Navy
program offices. The Education Policy Directorate of
the Office of the Secretary of Defense provided
Armed Forces tuition assistance amounts.

Other Grants and Loans

The data were collected through conversations and
correspondence with the officials of the agencies that
sponsor the programs.

Pell

Office of Student Financial Assistance, U.S.
Department of Education, Pell Grants End of Year
Reports and Basic Grant Institutional Agreement and
Authorization Reports.

SSIG and State Grant Programs

1994-95: Preliminary figures reported by 20 states
with largest grant appropriations. Figures for
remaining 30 states, the District of Columbia, and
Puerto Rico estimated by the College Board.

1985-86 to 1993-94: 18th through 25th Annual Survey
Reports of the National. Association of State
Scholarship and Grant Programs.

Veterans Benefits

Benefits Program series (annual publication for each
fiscal year), Office of Budget and Finance, U.S.
Veterans Administration and unpublished data from
the same agency.

Table 3

Cost of Attendance Data

1994-95: Cost estimates were generated by applying
the sectoral cost increases between 1993-94 and
1994-95 found in the 1994 College Board Annual Survey
of Colleges to the 1993-94 costs reported by the
National Center for Educational Statistics.

1985-85 through 1993-94: National Center for
Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education,
Digest of Education Statistics, 1994: Table 304, pp.
311-312.

Income Data

Median Family Income from Bureau of the Census,
U.S. Department of Commerce, Current Population
Reports, Series P-60, and information provided by the
income section of that Department.

Disposable Personal Income, Per Capita from the
Bureau of Economic Analysis, U.S. Department of
Commerce, National Income and Wealth Division,
Survey of Current Business.

Consumer Price Index:

The Consumer Price Index (CPI) for current and past
years is from the Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S.
Department of Labor, unpublished compilation of
monthly CPIs since 1949. Forecasts of the CPI are
from the Congressional Budget office.
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This report provides the most recent and complete
statistics available on student aid in the 19805 and
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and Carlson, Trends in Student Aid: 1963 to 1983 (New
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Chairman MCKEON. Ms. Schenet

STATEMENT OF MARGOT SCHENET, SPECIALIST IN SOCIAL
LEGISLATION, CONGRESSIONAL RESEARCH SERVICE

Ms. SCHENET. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My name is Margot
Schenet, and I'm a specialist in social legislation at CRS. I appre-
ciate the opportunity to appear before the subcommittee to testify
about postsecondary enrollment and student aid based on a memo
that I also prepared on the subject. I would also like to acknowl-
edge the other CRS staff who helped in this memorandum and the
presentation, Rick Apling, Laura Monagle and Liane White.

My purpose in this testimony is to provide a snapshot of enroll-
ment and student aid to answer questions about where students go
to school and who gets student aid. It's taken from a national sur-
vey that was conducted in 1992-1993. This is the most current,
complete information we have on a national level that is available,
but as a result it does not reflect the changes that took place in
the 1992 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act.

Turning first to the question of where students go to school, the
first chart illustrates why we use the term postsecondary education
as opposed to higher education, since half of all undergraduates are
going to institutions that would be considered non-traditional, that
is, they are not going to four-year colleges and universities. Fifty-
five percent of undergraduates are going to community colleges,
proprietary schools and other less than four-year schools. Only 14
percent are attending the private, independent colleges and univer-
sities.

I might also note that undergraduates are non-traditional in a
number of other ways. If we think of traditional students as those
who graduate from high school in the spring, then enroll in a
school in the fall, are dependent on their parents for financial sup-
port, and attend full time, then many undergraduates don't fit the
picture. Overall, 52 percent of undergraduates were independent of
their parents, 63 percent were older than typical, 6 percent did not
even have a high school diploma, and 54 percent attended part
time.

Postsecondary enrollment patterns also varied with income, par-
ticularly, for dependent students. We divided the students, the de-
pendent students, into four income categories, the lowest, those
with family incomes below $15,000, and then two middle- income
categories, and then the highest with incomes, family incomes
above $50,000.

Chart two shows the variations in enrollment for these different
groups of dependent students. One interesting thing is that middle-
income dependent students, those in families with incomes between
$25,000 and $50,000, were more likely to go to community colleges
than their wealthier counterparts, and, indeed, somewhat more
likely than the lowest income students to go to those schools. This
is in part because the lowest income students were the most likely
to be attending the proprietary institutions.

A second question concerns who gets student aid and from what
sources. This includes any aid, regardless of source, Federal stu-
dent aid, which is mostly authorized under Title IV of the Higher
Education Act, State aid, and then institutional aid, by which we
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mean aid that's provided by the school the student attends, either
through cash awards or through tuition discounting.

Chart three shows first that fewer than half of all undergradu-
ates, 41 percent, received any aid at all to attend a postsecondary
institution, and only about a third received Federal student aid.
Smaller percentages, 10 and 12 percent respectively, received any
State or institutional aid.

I might note here that attendance data is particularly important
in explaining this pattern and the fact that only a third of the stu-
dents are receiving Federal aid. If you look only at full-time stu-
dents, 47 percent of the full-time students received Federal aid,
and only 19 percent of the part-time students did.

Chart three also shows the proportion of students in different
kinds of institutions that received aid. Community college students
were the least likely to receive aid of any kind, and the least likely
to receive Federal aid. Proprietary school students were the most
likely to receive aid and the most likely to receive Federal aid.

Institutional aid is primarily a phenomenon of the private, inde-
pendent sector of postsecondary education. Thirty-seven percent of
the students who attended private, independent colleges and uni-
versities received aid from their school, whereas, only 14 percent
in public colleges received aid from the school, and less than 5 per-
cent of those in community colleges and proprietary schools re-
ceived aid from the school.

The next chart examines more closely the receipt of Federal aid,
most of which is authorized under Title IV of the Higher Education
Act, and it's based both on financial need and also on the cost of
attendance.

Chart four was an attempt to illustrate how those two factors
interact in the delivery of Federal student aid. In this case, the
data is only for full-time dependent students, classified both by the
type of institution they attend and their income levels. The income
levels go across the chart from right to left, decreasing in income,
whereas, the type of schools, we've arrayed them from the least ex-
pensive type of school, the community college on the bottom, to the
most expensive type of school, the four-year private, independent
colleges on the top.

Overall, the lower income and the more expensive the school the
greater the likelihood of getting Federal aid. If you look at the
upper left corner of the chart, you see that 90 percent of the lowest
income students attending the most expensive schools receive Fed-
eral aid. In contrast, at the bottom right-hand corner only 3 per-
cent of the students with family incomes above $50,000 attending
the least expensive schools, community colleges, receive Federal
aid. So, it gives you an illustration of how the two factors interact.

Finally, the last chart presents some information about the reli-
ance on loans for recipients of aid. In that chart, what we looked
at what just those students who are receiving aid, not all under-
graduates, and we were examining the extent to which loans are
a part of the aid package overall, and depending on the type of
school attended.

Overall, approximately 40 percent of aid recipients had a loan as
part of their package. Nine percent had a loan only, while 31 per-
cent had a loan in combination with other types of aid. The propor-
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tion of aid recipients with loans was greatest at proprietary
schools, however, almost half of aid recipients had loans at every
type of school except community colleges.

I would expect that the pattern of difference between types of
schools continues to be similar today, what has probably changed
because of the changes in 1992, is that more students are receiving
loans overall than in the past. If we look just at need-based loans,
that is, the subsidized Stafford loans, I would expect these patterns
are relatively similar today to what they were back then. One of
the big changes, as Mr. Childers mentioned, was the creation of the
unsubsidized Stafford loans in 1992.

Additional descriptive information from the survey is included in
my memorandum on postsecondary enrollment and student aid,
and I'd be happy to answer any questions.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Schenet follows:]
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Margot A. Schenet
Specialist in Social Legislation

Education and Public Welfare Division
Congressional Research Service

April 23, 1996
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My name is Margot Schenet, and I'm a specialist in

social legislation at the Congressional Research Service (CRS). 1 appreciate the
.ppear before you and other members of the Subcommittee on

Postsecondary Education, Training and Life-Long Learning to present information about
postsecondary enrollment and student aid. My testimony is based on a memorandum on
this subject that I also prepared and which I have included as an appendix to my written
testimony. I would like to acknowledge the other CRS staff who contributed to the
memorandum and this presentation Rick Apling, Laura Monagle, and Liane White.

My purpose in this testimony is to provide a "snapshot" of enrollment and student aid
to answer questions about where postsecondary students go to school and who gets student
aid. The information is taken from a national survey of postsecondary students conducted
in the 1992-93 academic year by the U.S. Department of Education. Unfortunately, this
is the most current source of information available on the characteristics of students and
multiple sources of aid. It should be noted, as a result, that the information does not
reflect changes that have taken place in federal student aid programs since that time. The
picture presented here is also limited to undergraduate students only.

Turning first to the question of where students go to school, the first chart illustrates
why the term postsecondary education has come to replace "higher" education, since fewer
than half of all undergraduates are enrolled in traditional institutions of higher education,
that is, in public and private colleges and universities offering at least a baccalaureate
degree. Approximately 55% of undergraduate students were enrolled in community
colleges, proprietary schools, and other less-than-4-year institutions. Only 14% attended
private, independent colleges and universities.

I might also note that undergraduates are nontraditional in other ways than the type
of school they attended. If we think of the traditional student as someone who graduates
from high school in the spring, enrolls in a postsecondary institution in the fall of the same
year, attends full-time, and is dependent on his/her family for financial support, many
undergraduates in 1992-93 did not correspond to this picture. Overall, 52% of
undergraduates were independent, 63% were older than typical, 6% did not have a high
school diploma, and 54% attended parttime. Community colleges enrolled large
percentages of students who could be considered nontraditional according to any one of
these criteria. Of course, many students may fall into more than one of these
"nontraditional" categories.
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Postsecondary enrollment patterns also varied with income, particularly for dependent
students. In the case of dependent students, the income referred to is family income. The
dependent students were divided into 4 income categories: those with family incomes of
less than $15,000 the lowest income group; two middle-income groups those with
family incomes from $15,000 to $24,999, and from $25,000 to $49,999; and those from
families with incomes of $50,000 or more. For comparison, the poverty threshold for
a family of 4 in 1992 was $14,355; median family income in that year was $36,812.

Chart 2 shows the variations in enrollment for these different groups of dependent
students. Middle-income dependent students (those with family incomes between $25,000
and $50,000) were more likely to go to community colleges than their wealthier
counterparts (46% to 24%) and indeed somewhat more likely than the lowest income
students (46% to 31%) to attend such schools. The lowest income students were more
likely than any other income group to attend proprietary schools (12.5% versus 7% or less
for the other income categories.) A higher percentage of dependent students in the highest
income group (24%) attended private, independent colleges and universities than was true
for other categories of dependent students; in fact, they were twice as likely as middle
income dependent students to do so.

Enrollment patterns for independent students showed less variation by income;
regardless of income, more independent students were likely to be enrolled in community
colleges.
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The second question concerns who gets student aid, and from what sources. This
includes which undergraduates got aid from any source, and then, by source: federal aid,
which is primarily aid authorized by title IV of the Higher Education Act (HEA); state
aid,and institutional aid, which includes not only cash awards or scholarships, but also
discounted tuition and fees. The 1992 amendments to the HEA changed the formulas for
determining need, and established a new non need-based loan program. While the
percentages have doubtless changed as a result, the patterns found in these data,
particularly for need-based aid, are unlikely to have changed significantly.

Chart 3 shows first, that fewer than half of all undergraduates (41%) received any
aid at all to attend a postsecondary institution. About a third (32%) of the undergraduate
students in 1992-93 received federal aid, while similar, small percentages (10% and 12%)
received any state or institutional aid, respectively. We should note that attendanrP status
is particularly important in whether students received aid. Part-time students were less
likely to receive aid, regardless of the source. For example, 47% of full-time students
received federal aid, but only 19% of part-time students did so.

Chart 3 also shows the proportion of students in different kinds of institutions that
received aid from these various sources. Community college students were less likely to
receive any aid than students in other types of schools and also less likely to receive
federal aid. Proprietary school students were the most likely to receive aid from any
source and also the most likely to receive federal aid 68% of proprietary school students
received federal aid compared to 20% of community college students. Students attending
private, independent colleges and universities were most likely to receive institutional aid

37% of students attending these schools received aid from the school compared to 14%
of those at public colleges and universities and less than 5% of those students attending
community colleges or proprietary schools.. Institutional aid is primarily a phenomena of
the private, independent sector of postsecondary education.
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The next chart examines more closely the receipt of federal aid, most of which is
authorized under title IV of the HEA and is based on financial need. The title IV formulas
that determine need and size of awards take into account both the financial circumstances
of the students and their parents (in the case of dependent students) and the cost of
attendance. Chart 4 illustrates the results of that interaction. In this case, the data are for
full-time, dependent students, classified by the type of institution they attended, and their
income levels. The type of institution can be considered a rough proxy of costs, with
community colleges the least imiiiunons, public colleges and universities next
higher in costs, then proprietary schools, and most expensive the private, independent
colleges and universities.

As the chart indicates, for students at each type of school, the likelihood of getting
federal aid increased as income decreased. Conversely, within each income category, the
likelihood of getting aid generally increased as costs rose, although proprietary schools
were something of an exception, with more of their students in the highest income range
getting aid than similar students at private, independent colleges and universities. Overall,
the lower the income and the more expensive the school, the greater the likelihood of
receiving federal aid: if you look at the upper left corner of the chart, 90% of the lowest
income dependent students attending private, 4-year schools fulltime received federal aid,
compared to the lower right corner, where only 3% of students with incomes above
$50,000 attending community colleges received federal aid. This chart also illustrates
other consequences of combining financial need and cost in awarding aid for example,
the lowest income students at the least expensive schools, and those students from middle-
income families attending private, independent colleges had about the same chance of
receiving federal aid (68% versus 71% respectively).
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Finally, the last chart presents some information about the reliance on loans for
recipients of any student aid. Generally, aid can be divided into three types grants
(which do not need to be repaid), loans, and work-study. For purposes of this chart, only
those students receiving any aid were included. For aided undergraduates, the chart shows
the extent to which loans were a part of the aid package overall, and depending on the
type of school attended. Overall, approximately 40% of aid recipients had a loan as part
of the package -- 9% had a loan only, and 31% had a loan in combination with other types
of aid. As you can sec, the proportion of aid recipients with loans as part of their aid
package was greatest at proprietary schools. Nevertheless, almost half of aid recipients
had loans at every type of school except community colleges. (Changes in federal student
aid since these data were collected are likely to have led to increased proportions of
students with loans as part of their aid packages.)

Additional descriptive information from the survey is included in my memorandum
on postsecondary enrollment and student aid. I would be pleased to answer any questions
you might have.

7.



S

S

9

4

S
::::-:$

...:::.:t.x..m.--



71

Chairman McKEIDN. Doctor Nettles.

STATEMENT OF MICHAEL T. NETTLES, PH.D., EXECUTIVE DI-
RECTOR, FREDERICK D. PATTERSON RESEARCH INSTITUTE,
THE COLLEGE FUND/UNCF, PROFESSOR, SCHOOL OF EDU-
CATION, UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN
Mr. NETTLES. Thank you very much, Mr. McKeon, Members of

the committee. It's a real privilege, I think, to be before you this
afternoon. I am a Professor of the School of Education at the Uni-
versity of Michigan, and the brand new, first Executive Director of
the Frederick D. Paterson Research Institute. I have submitted a
copy of my testimony including some text and 12 tables of enroll-
ment data that I will not belabor over this afternoon in detail, but
will make a few points from the paper.

Before I do, I would like to tell you a little bit about the Fred-
erick D. Patterson Research Institute and our mission. We were es-
tablished as part of the United Negro College Fund. This is the
brain child of one of your former colleagues, William H. Gray, III,
and when he first when to the UNCF Mr. Gray said that when he
served in Congress he often looked around for data and information
and analyses to help him understand the issues that he was con-
cerned= about and didn't always have them. So, he vowed when he
became the President of UNCF to establish such a research insti-
tute and he succeeded in doing so.

Our mission is to develop data, information and research that
will help us to improve the education of AfricanAmericans in the
United States. And so, we have just begun, we are making daily
progress. The data and information that I've presented to you in
the testimony that I've presented in written form, and now orally,
were not original data from the Frederick Patterson Institute but
are mostly from the U.S. Department of Education.

I have been asked this afternoon to speak to the issue of enroll-
ment trends, and this is a very complex issue. There are all types
of colleges and universities. People go part time and full time, some
stop out, and drop out, others stay in and complete on a regular
schedule. Even within sectors, like community colleges or four-year
institutions, there's a great deal of variety. So, to give global trends
is, while useful in some respects, you really have to ask much more
detailed questions about what I'm going to say to you, and I'm cer-
tainly open to that today and in the future, welcome the oppor-
tunity to engage in this process toward the reauthorization.

The first point I'd like to make is that colleges and universities
are very popular institutions in this country. The enrollments over
the past three decades have quadrupled, even in times when the
general population is not growing as fast, the general population
grew over that time period by 45 percent.

Now, even when we have declining rates of high school grad-
uates, even when costs are going up, and even when the population
growth is slow, we see enrollment growths in colleges and univer-
sities that are pretty dramatic. There are about 14 million students
who are pursuing degrees of one type or another in all sectors of
higher education. In 1960, there were around 4 million.

A second point is that although the rates of increase in enroll-
ments vary by institution, the enrollment growth is apparent in
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every type. The fastest growing institutions over the past couple
decades have been the proprietary and community college sectors,
but the four year sectors have also grown and continue to be the
most popular choice among high school graduates. About 61 per-
cent of people who graduate from high school every year enter col-
lege and some form of institution of higher education within a year
of completing high school, and about 60 percent of those people
choose four-year institutions and about 40 percent two-year institu-
tions.

The increases in enrollment are also clear for every racial, ethnic
group. The fastest growing has been the Asian population in the
country, which has increased more than eight-fold over the past
two decades, followed by the Hispanic enrollment and the African
American enrollment. AfricanAmerican increases in higher edu-
cation have been fairly phenomenal since the 1960s, and we often
attribute the growth in enrollments to two things. One is the in-
creasing demand for higher levels of education in the society, to
perform in professional careers and to attend graduate and profes-
sional education, and also the support that is being provided from
here in Washington and at the institutional level as well. Colleges
and universities are making grave investments into student aid of
various types.

One of the major trends that we've also heard about this morning
is somewhat the declining participation by people who are going to
college, actually, in financial programs of all types, whether they
are institutional aid or provided here from Washington, and one
thing that has us concerned at the Pattern Research Institute is
that the decline in AfricanAmerican participation has been great-
er than for other groups with the exception of Asians.

For example, about 9 percent over the past decade fewer under-
graduate students who are AfricanAmericans are participating in
financial aid programs of any type and in grant programs as well.
We don't know why, but we anticipate that the reasons for the
Asian decline in participation may be different from that of the Af-
ricanAmerican participation. This is of particular concern because
there has been an increase in the percent of AfricanAmericans in
the country who are considered to be living in poverty. About a
third of the population of AfricanAmericans in the country are in
poverty, living in poverty. This is up about 5 percent over the last
decade.

We also have seen not as rapid growth in the percent of African
Americans who actually hold baccalaureate degrees or four or more
years of college. About 11 percent of the population of African
Americans do so, this compares to about 22 percent, for example,
of White Americans.

I would like to suggest that in your deliberations that more ques-
tions and research be conducted to examine such issues as the in-
fluence of various types and amounts of student assistance toward
expanding the choices that students have for college. There are
many poor, high-ability students in the country who may not be
having access to the highest levels of education that would benefit
them more in the long run, and this is something that we need to
examine.
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I would also encourage us to join us at the Frederick D. Patter-
son Institute in investigating the decline in the AfricanAmerican
participation in student aid programs, and also the student persist-
ence in degree completion rates of students who actually use var-
ious types of financial aid. For example, what happens with stu-
dents who enter college and receive grants or loans. Are they drop-
ping out? What do you consider this to be in terms of the quality
of investment or the efficiency and the use of grants versus loans,
should those awards be used primarily for people who are complet-
ing college? How should we think about that?

Another area that I think we have not spent any time on this
morning, but should, is to think about the investment of aid into
graduate and professional education. We do that, much of some of
the reauthorization is targeted at those levels, and those enroll-
ments at the graduate level have been increasing as well.

Mr. Chairman, I'd like to conclude my remarks. If you have ques-
tions about any of the data that I've presented today or would like
to engage in any of these trends, I would be delighted to do so.

Thank you.
Chairman MCKEON. Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Nettles follows:]
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Michael T. Nettles, Ph.D.

Congressional Testimony

Introduction

My name is Michael T. Nettles and I am a Professor in the School of Education at the University of

Michigan, and the Executive Director of the Frederick D. Patterson Research Institute of the United Negro College

Fund. I would like to thank you for the invitation to address you at this first hearing leadingup to the 1997

projected Reauthorization of the Higher Education Act of 1965.

I have been requested by the Chair to focus my remarks upon student enrollment trends in higher

education. But before I get into the substance of this topic, let me just make a few introductory remarks about the

new Frederick D. Patterson Research Institute. The Institute was opened this year as a new entity of the United

Negro College Fund (UNCF) and I am the first Executive Director of the Institute. This is the brain child ofyour

former colleague Mr. William H. Gray, III. When he became President of the College Fund, Mr. Gray sought to

establish the Research Institute in order to provide information and research to improve the education of African

Americans in the U.S. from pre-school through adulthood. We view it as our function at the Institute to establish the

very best data-bases possible that will help to understand the challenges facing African Americans in preschool,

elementary, secondary school. and colleges and universities at all levels and of all types. We expect to become a

valuable educational resource center that people call upon when they have questions or need solutions for .:hallenges

pertaining to the education of African Americans. That is my charge as Executive Director of the Patterson

Research Institute. We are making daily progress to achieve those objectives. My testimony before you this

morning is my first opportunity to talk to public policy makers about one of the topics of immense importance to

UNCF and to the Frederick D. Patterson Research Institute.

Enrollment trends are very important to keep in mind throughout the deliberations leadingup to the

Reauthorization because of the implications they have for the undergraduate and post baccalaureate student aid

components of the Higher Education Act. Additionally, enrollment trends reflect the public demand for higher

education. Enrollment trends seem especially important for this early hearing, not solely because of what the data

reveal, but also because they identify the need for additional data that are not presently available, as well as data that
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are available but are not presented in sufficient data and precision to provide insight into the challenges that public

policy makers must confront.

My presentation has two dimensions. First. I present to you some general trends that describe the growth

and distribution of enrollments in the nation's colleges and universities, and second I suggest some important data

that I believe the Committee should demand from the higher education community, and from government agencies

as it deliberates about a new Act and policy direction to support higher education for the nation's people. In some

cases, when data are available I present trends dating back to the 1960s. Analyses dating back to the '60s through

the present parallel the life of the Higher Education Act.

College and university enrollments are very complex, and general national enrollment data often fail to

capture important distinctions. For example, enrollments consist of part-time and full-time students, students with a

broad array of abilities and interests, students from a variety of race/ethnic groups, students of varying economic

classes, and students attending institutions of various levels, types and sizes. Therefore, for every generalization we

make about enrollments in the nation's colleges and universities, exceptions and qualifications about the data need

to be presented in order to ensure accurate and appropriate interpretation. There is great variety amongthe nation's

nearly 2,100 4-year colleges and universities. nearly 1.500 community colleges and technical institutes, and over

3,000 proprietary institutions. With suitable caveats, however, general trends can be useful as long as they are

presented in the proper context. The contexts from which I will present to you the general trends today are the

following three: (I) college and university enrollment growth relative to population growth, (2) differences in

enrollment trends for institutions of various types (e.g. two year versus four year; historically Black colleges and

universities compared to other types of institutions; and public versus private); and (3) differences in enrollment

trends among different racial and ethnic groups.

Enrollments changes relative to population changes

When viewed in isolation, the trends in higher education enrollments show a continuous and steady

increase over the past three decades. Table 1 shows that college and university enrollments have gradually

increased over that time period from just over 4.7 million students in 1963 to over 14 million in 1993. But when

higher education enrollment trends are juxtaposed with U.S. population trends, then the growth in the demand for
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college attendance can be seen as being far more dramatic. Table 2 illustrates that over the past three decades, the

total size of the U.S. population increased by approximately 45 percent.'and that the traditional college age (15-24

years) population by 35 percent. By contrast. during roughly the same time period. college and university

enrollments increased by approximately 200 percent.

Table It Total Fall Enrollment in Institutions of Higher Education: 1963 to 1993
Year Total Change from 1961

1963 4.779,609
1965 5.920,864 23.88%
1970 8,580,887 79.53%

1975 11,184,859 134.01%
1980 12,096,895 153.09%
1985 12,247,055 156.24%

1990 13,818,637 189.12%
1993 14,305,658 199.31%

Source: U.S. Department of Education, NCES. "Fall Enrollments in Colleges
and Universities." and IPEDS. "Fall Enrollment" surveys.

Table 2: Total resident U.S. nnnulation by selected eroun 15 to 24 veva of aye 1960 to 1994

Percent Percent of Percent Percent of Percent
Change 15-24 Total Change 25-44 Total Change

Year from 1960 Years Population from 1960 Years Ponulation from 1960
fin thousandsl

1960 179.323 0.00% 26.759 14.92% 0.00% 46.899 26.15% 0.00%

1970 202.235 12.78% 35.922 17.76% 34.24% 48.024 23.75% 2.40%
1980 226.546 26.33% 42.487 18.75% 58.78% 62.716 27.68% 33.73%
1990 248.718 38.70% 37.021 14.88% 38.35% 80.596 32.40% 71.85%
1994 260.341 45.18% 35.942 13.81% 34.32% 82,014 31.50% 74.87%

Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census, Current Population Reports, P-25-1095: and Population Paper Listing 21.

Another important trend that reflects the growth in the popularity of higher education is the rate at which

high school graduates enter college. Table 3 shows the change in the rate at which high school graduates go on to

college. Over the past three decades. the overall college going rate among high school graduates has increased from

45 percent in 1960 to over 62 percent in 1994.
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Table 3: Percent of high school graduates enrolling in college within one year of high school graduation, by race ethnicity: 1960 to l99'

Percent of Percent of Percent of

Percent of White High Black High Hispanic High
High School School School School

White High Black High Hispanic Graduates Graduates Graduates Graduates
School School High School Enrolled in Enrolled In Enrolled in Enrolled in

Year Graduates Graduates Graduates College College College College

'number in thousands)

1960 1,679 1,565 N.A. N.A. 45.15% 46% N.A. N.A.

1970 2.757 1461 N.A. N.A. 51.76% 52% N.A. N.A.

1980 3,089 2.682 361 129 49.34% 50% 42% 53%

1990 2.355 1.921 341 112 59.87% 62% 46% 47%

1994 2.517 2,065 318 178 61.94% 64% 51% 49%

Source: American College Testing Program, unpublished tabulations, 1987, derived from statistics collected by the U.S. Bureau of the

Census; and U.S. Department of Labor. College Enrollment of 1993 High School Graduates, and unpublished data.

It is important to know more than the rate at which high school graduates are attending college in order to

make judgments about the needed levels of financial assistance and other types of support. Such additional

information as whether they are attending full time or part-time, pursing baccalaureate degrees or associates'

degrees, or whether they are attending trade and technical types of postsecondary programs can lead to decisions

about the types and amounts of financial assistance required to adequately support today's college students. It is

also important to know the changes in the various types of postsecondary institutions that high graduates are

attending. Additional data are needed to reveal more about the variety of college choices that high school graduates

are making immediately after completing high school, and more about student persistence rates in various

disciplines, their rates of graduating from college, and the changing personal and societal benefits gained from

attending and completing college.

The increase in enrollments has been steady throughout the three decades: and the growth continues

through the present. We commonly attribute the enrollment growth to both increasing demand in the nation for a

highly educated work force, and to the expanded opportunity provided by national, state and institutional level

financial assistance (grants and loans). But no one has examined the direct influence of components of the Higher

Education Act on students' decisions to go to college, or on the range of choices that students make about the types

of institutions to attend.
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Enroll en ent trends for Institutions of various types.

It is important to examine enrollment trends in the context of the various types of colleges and universities.

The growth in the community college sector over this span of time has been phenomenal. Table 4 illustrates that

community college enrollments increased more than five-fold over the past three decades from eight hundred and

fifty thousand in 1963 to over five and a half million in 1993. By contrast four year college enrollments have

increased approximately 122 percent. Despite the less dramatic enrollment growth at four year colleges and

universities compared to two year institutions, four year institutions continue to be the most popular choice among

high school graduates. Table 5 shows that in 1993, 55 five percent of college and university undergraduates enroll in

four year institutions compared to nearly 45 percent in community colleges. Table 5 also reveals that even with the

enormous growth in the community college sector, the ratio of four year to two year undergraduate college shifted

somewhat modestly since the mid 1970s.

Table 4: Total Fall Enrollment in Institutions of Hioher Edueotion: 1963 to 1993

Year
Total

Enrollment

Percent of
4-year Total

Enrollment Enrollment
Change

from 1961

Percent of
2-year Total

Enrollment Enrollment
Change

from 1963

1963 4,779,609 3,929.248 82.21% 850,361 17.79%
1965 5,920,864 4,747,912 80.19% 20.84% 1.172,952 19.81% 37.94%
1970 8,580,887 6,261,502 72.97% 59.36% 2,319,385 27.03% 172.75%
1975 11,184,859 7,214,740 64.50% 83.62% 3.970,119 35.50% 366.87%
1980 12,096,895 7,570,608 62.58% 92.67% 4,526,287 37.42% 432.28%
1985 12,247,055 7.715.978 63.00% 96.37% 4,531,077 37.00% 432.84%
1990 13,818,637 8,578.554 62.08% 118.33% 5.240.083 37.92% 516.22%
1993 14,305,658 8,739,791 61.09% 122.43% 5.565.867 38.91% 554.53%

Source: U.S. Department of Education. NCES, "Fall Enrollment in Colleges and Universities," and IPEDS. "Fall
Enrollment" surveys.

Additional data are needed to give greater meaning to the enrollment distribution between two year and

four year institutions. When comparing the two-year enrollments with the four year enrollments, such additional

characteristics as the age of the students. and their full-time versus part-time enrollment status are essential for

understanding the extent to which community college growth is due to a shift in the types of higher education

institutions traditional college students are choosing to attend. or simply the expansion in the types of students (e.g.,

differences in age, career interests, etc.) attending college.
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Table 6 presents the enrollment growth in public compared to the private sector of higher education. The

enrollment growth in the public sector of higher education and the private not for profit sector have been somewhat

similar during the last two decades, rising approximately 29 percent and 25 percent. respectively. Table 6 shows

that the most dramatic enrollment growth over the past two decades occurred among proprietary sector institutions

where enrollments more than quadrupled.

In the context of the Reauthorization of the Higher Education Act in 1997, it is important to identify how

the financial aid (grants and loans) are distributed to students among the various sectors of colleges and universities.

Not only will this type of analysis reveal the types of institutions that are providing access to economically needy

students, but also show how various types of colleges and universities benefit from the Higher Education Act.

Table 7 shows that enrollments in historically Black Colleges and Universities have also been increasing.

In the period from 1980 to 1993. enrollments in Black colleges and universities increased by 21 percent from

233,557 to 282,856. Within this sector enrollment among the 41 private colleges and universities that comprise the

UNCF has increased by 25 percent since 1984 going from 43,495 students to 53,969 students. The number of

applicants for the freshman class at UNCF institutions has nearly doubled since 1984 going from 31.567 to 61,879.

This represents yet another indicator of growing interest among the nation's African American citizenry in pursuing

higher education.

Enrollment trends among different racial and ethnic groups.

The enrollment trend line has been going up not just overall, but for each major American racial group. At

the undergraduate level. Table 8 shows that since 1976. the Asian enrollment growth has been the greatest

increasing by 274 percent, followed by Hispanics (160 percent), American Indians (61 percent), African Americans

(36 percent), and Whites (17 percent). The non-resident Alien enrollment also increased substantially (87 percent)

during the past two decades.
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Table 7: Enrollment at historically black colleges and universities: 19110 19118 and 1993

Black Men as a Black Women as
Total Black Men Percent of Total Black Women a Percent of Total

Enrollment Enrolled Enrollment Enrolled Enrollment

1980 233,557 81,818 35.03% 109,171 46.74%

1988 239,755 78,268 32.64% 115,883 48.33%

1993 282,856 93,110 32.92% 138.088 48.82%

Source: U.S. Department of Education, NCES, "Fall Enrollment in Institutions of Higher Education," and
IPEDS, "Fall Enrollment," Completions," surveys.
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At the graduate level between 1976 and 1993, Table 9 illustrates that similar to the undergraduate trends,

Asian Americans increased by the greatest amount (166 percent), followed by Hispanics (120%), Amencan Indians

(43%), African Americans (30%) and Whites (14%). Over the same time period, the non-resident Alien graduate

enrollment increased by 151 percent. Table 9 also shows that the growth in professional school enrollment of

racial/ethnic groups mirrors the pattern at the graduate level.

Table 10 illustrates the change in various types of financial aid awarded to undergraduate students from

1986 to 1992. The data in Table 10 reveal a rather large decline in the number of African Americans and Asians

receiving financial aid of any kind and especially grants (more than a 9 percent decline for each group receiving

both financial assistance and grants). This is particularly surprising given that the enrollments of both of these

groups have been increasing. It is also alarming because despite the progress African Americans have made in

attaining college degrees. Table 11 shows that half as many African Americans 25 years or older have completed

four or more years of college as their White counterparts (11 percent compared to 22 percent). At the same time,

however, Table 11 shows that 40 percent of Asian Americans 25 years or older have completed four or more years

of college. This suggests that the decline in African American and Asian participation in financial aid programs

may be explained by different factors, but the data needed to explain the declining participation for each of the two

groups are not presently available. This points to the fact that more needs to be known about the characteristics of

the people (students) who are represented by the enrollment trends in order to interpret the meaning of the trends.

Table 12 shows that nearly one third of the African American population and families lived below the

poverty level in 1994 and this is 5 percent greater than a decade ago. While this cannot be conclusive evidence of

the financial need of African American college students, it certainly suggests that the financial needs are likely to be

even greater than in the past. Therefore. the participation rate in financial aid programs should be increased in

iandem with enrollments, rather than decline. Research is needed to explain the declining participation rate of

African Americans in financial aid.
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Table 11: Percent of persons 25 years old and over who completed 4 years of college or more by race
and ethnicity: 1960 to 1990

Year Total White
Asian and

Mark Pori& Islander Hispanic

1960 7.7 8.1 3.1 N.A. N.A.
1970 10.7 11.3 4.4 N.A. 4.5
1980 16.2 17.1 8.4 N.A. 7.6
1990 21.3 22 11.3 39.9 9.2

Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census, U.S. Census of Population, U.S. Summary, PC80- (-CI and
Current Population Reports P20-455, P20-459, P20-462, P20-465RV. P-20-475: and unpublished data.
Note: Total includes other races, not shown separately.
Note: Persons of Hispanic origin may be of any race.

Table 12: Economic Characteristics of White and Black Populations: 1980 to 1994

White Elul
1980 1990 1994 1980 1990 1994

[ number (1,000) j

Total Persons 191,905 206,983 215,221 26,033 30.392 33,040

Total Families 52,243 56.590 57,870 6,185 7,470 7,989
Less than $5,000 908 1,188 1.432 405 665 856
$5,000 to $9,999 2,110 2.264 2.765 872 964 1.205

$10,000 to $14,999 3,097 3,339 3.818 787 896 911
$15,000 to $24,999 7,906 7.923 8.756 1.326 1.389 1.485

525.000 to $34.999 7,963 8.262 8.719 871 1,031 1.093
$35,000 to $49,000 12,244 11,318 10,865 972 1,091 1.035
$50,000 or more 18,015 22.296 21,515 952 1,434 1,404

Median income (dol.) 39.911 41.922 39,308 22,601 23.550 21,548

Families below poverty level 3.581 4.409 5.452 1.722 2.077 2,499
Percent of total families 6.85% 7.79% 9.42% 27.84% 27.80% 31.28%

Persons below poverty level 17.214 20,785 26,226 8.050 9.302 10.877
Percent of total persons 8.97% 10.04% 12.19% 30.92% 30.61% 32.92%

Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census. Current Population Reports, P20-480, and earlier reports: P-60-188; and
unpublished data.
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The higher education enrollment trends presented in this paper lead to six general conclusions:

1. Student demand for postsecondary education is increasing.

2. Even when general population trends and the trends in the number of high school graduates are in decline, the

demand to enroll in college continues to increase.

3. Although the rates of enrollment increase vary by type of institution, the increases in student enrollment are

apparent at all types of colleges and universities including two-year. four-year. proprietary, and historically

black colleges and universities.

4. Even though community colleges and proprietary institutions are experiencing the most substantial enrollment

growth, four year institutions continue to be the most popular choice of the majority of college students.

5. While the enrollment of all major racial groups in the U.S. have been increasing, the growth of Hispanics, and

Asians are especially noteworthy for more than doubling during the past decade.

6. More data and research are needed in order to assess the following:

the influence of various types and amounts of student assistance toward expanding student choices of

colleges to attend;

the decline in African American and Asian participation in student aid programs:

student persistence to degree completion.

This concludes my formal remarks on the topic of enrollments this morning. There are many other

questions that could be raised about enrollments for which we will need to generate a different array of analyses than

what I have brought before you this morning. At some point, we should discuss the degree productivity of the

nation's colleges and universities. Data and information about degrees will resemble in some respects the patterns

that we observed about enrollments, but there will also be some differences. Among the most notable will be the

dramatic changes that have occurred in the distribution of people in the country receiving graduate and professional

BEST COPY AVAILABLE
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degrees. I would like to suggest that over the course of these deliberation during the next year that the committee

focus much of its attention upon providing opportunities for more of the nation's qualified students to pursue

undergraduate education as well as graduate and professional education. This continues to be an investment in our

nation that yields great social benefit for us all. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair and members of the committee for

this opportunity that you have given me to address you this morning.
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Chairman McICE0N. Mr. Rutter.

STATEMENT OF THOMAS M. RUTTER, DIRECTOR OF FINAN-
CIAL AID, SENIOR DIRECTOR OF ENROLLMENT SERVICES,
SAN FRANCISCO STATE UNIVERSITY
Mr. RUTTER. Mr. Chairman and Members, thank you for inviting

me out to Washington and the beautiful weather you have out
here. It's better than California, by the way.

I have a short presentation, and I have submitted my testimony
for the record.

My name is. Tom Rutter. I have spent 24 years in serving in fi-
nancial aid in three different institutions, University of California,
two campuses, and now at San Francisco State University. I've also
been advisor on various panels and participated in professional or-
ganizations, so I'm familiar with coming to Washington.

At San Francisco State, we have 27,000 students on one campus,
about 15,000 of those students are on financial aid, so we have a
big program. Last year, it was $93 million on one campus. About
$10 million of that were institutional funds. This is the question
that had come up about public schools, well, we are a public school
and we do commit about $10 million now to supporting our stu-
dents with grant money.

Our fees are only about $2,000 a year, and the total cost of edu-
cation, with room and board, and all the different components, are
about $12,000. So, our fees are low but because we are in a rel-
atively high-cost area the total cost of education is quite high com-
pared to other schools with that level of fee.

Over 88 percent of our students repay their loans. This is always
a question when I'm on the airplane, someone says, what do you
do for a living? I say I give away money, then I correct it and say,
no, I lend money, and they say all those students are defaulting.
Well, they aren't. In actuality, most students, a vast majority of
students, are repaying their loans, and our experience is very good
in that area.

We have a distinguished faculty at San Francisco State Univer-
sity. Most recently, Geoffrey March discovered three new planets
outside of our solar system, with the hope of life and water out
there renewed, so we are very excited about that. And, we have a
famous alum now, Mayor Willie Brown went to San Francisco
State.

I did provide 150 copies of my testimony and a packet of handout
materials, and I won't go through those at all, but one of the publi-
cations was provided by the Department of Education, thank you,
and others from our campus, and an application for financial aid
in case you hadn't seen one of those, that's in there.

My first topic is the role of the financial aid administrator. This
is one of the problems that take in a fairly complicated issue and
making it simple, so I tried to do that for you. I consider, from my
experience, the financial aid director to having one of the most
complex roles at an institution of higher education, or community
college, or any of the segments, proprietary school as well. It's a
difficult position, because it involves marketing, we are involved in
the recruitment of students and financing of students from that
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end. As finance people, I'm managing a $93 million program, that's
fairly significant, and in-depth counseling of families and students.

So, what we call this is, we have the people side and the paper
side of life. The Counseling Center is primarily counseling, and
maybe accounting is primarily accounting, in financial aid we have
to do all of those, so it makes things pretty complicated.

I've been audited four times in the last 15 months by four dif-
ferent audit agencies, so I have to be good at managing audits, we
all do. We have to be good at processing large amounts of paper
and computer files, so our role becomes a manager. Twenty-seven
thousand people have sent their files to San Francisco State Uni-
versity, so we have huge numbers of applications.

We are a service organization. We must organize our offices to
be service organizations, and take care of people who are often in
desperate need, sometimes very desperate need, that come into the
offices.

We have to train. We are a training organization. We train our
staff, we train the other staff that go out, and we actually train the
students, because we teach them how to apply for financial aid.

And, we develop computer systems in order to handle all this. So,
the role of the financial aid administrator is fairly complicated,
quite diverse and touches on many different parts of the campus.

My second topic is how we serve students, and it begins with the
information dissemination process. A nice booklet, like the Depart-
ment of Education booklet, and ones we supplement. We use those
with junior high students, we actually go into junior highs, some-
times even younger than that, talk to students, talk to parents
about financing higher education. We go into high schools, the in-
tensitythe students usually don't get too excited about the financ-
ing of higher education until about the 11th and 12th grade, and
then suddenly they go, how am I going to pay for this, and then
the parents come in and it gets very intense for them.

We work with community colleges and we go out in the commu-
nity, because many of our students, especially at San Francisco
State, are non-traditional students. They are not coming from high
school, they are 21 years old. They've already been working, they
are out there in the community somewhere, they are coming back
to school for a variety of reasons, so we do that.

We distribute the applications that are produced by the Depart-
ment of Education, and at San Francisco State we mail those out
to our entering students, so we make sure they have them. We dis-
tribute it to the public. Anyone that comes out wanting to attend
any school in the United States, we give them an application.

We collect forms from students. This might not be an interesting
activity, but it's a very large activity, because we have to collect a
lot of different forms from students. So, we are dealing with paper
and when our mail comes in we distribute it and analyze it and or-
ganize that.

We do verification of the information as required by the law, we
do at least 30 percent verification. That means we go in, we have
an application from a student, and then we require further docu-
mentation to verify that. It's, in essence, an audit, and we collect
the 1040s, the IRS forms from the families, and we use that.
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We package financial aid. I'm going to talk about that a little bit
more. We do appeals. A lot of people come in to our office because
they don't like the financial aid package they got, to be honest
about it. Too many loans, not enough money, we are expecting too
much from the parents, their circumstances have changed, so they
come in to appeal to us. And, we do a lot of counseling.

My third topic is packaging. What is packaging? This is one of
those buzz words in financial aid, people always talk about packag-
ing. It sounds like, you know, we are Federal Express or some-
thing, but we're not. What we do is, we assign a variety of different
funds to a student to meet their need. The reason we have to pack-
age multiple funding is because we don't have a single fund that
is enough to meet the student's need. So, for instance, the Pell
Grant, which is a very good program, has been very effective as the
floor of financial aid, is not adequate to meet the student's need
typically. So, we add something else on it, maybe we'll add a State
grant, maybe we'll add an institutional grant, maybe we'll add an
SEOG grant, Federal SEOG, and then we'll add the loans to bal-
ance out the package. So, that's what packaging is about.

Some institutions package the opposite direction, by the way,
after the Pell Grant they package loans and then they package
grants, so it depends on the institution.

We try to give the students the best possible package. Best, from
our definition, is the most amount of grants, the least amount of
loans, and that's been more and more difficult in recent years.

We target students with packaging. What does that mean? Well,
entering students, typically, will be targeted with a specific enter-
ing student package, and it might be more grant money for an en-
tering student because they are more at risk. We don't want them
to come, get in debt, and then drop out of school. Those are where
the defaults happen quite often. And, we have to comply with the
requirements of each of the programs in the package. A freshman
coming to school gets a 26/25 loan, that's the maximum, we can't
give anymore, so we are obliged to follow those regulations.

And then, we monitor our expenditures very carefully, and as we
run out of funds in one area or another, we change our packaging.
For instance, a late applicant might get a very different package,
a much higher loan package, typically, then would an on-time ap-
plicant. So, there are many revisions to packages for students, too.

The Chairman asked me also to speak on key institutional fac-
tors in financial aid. Well, we talked about the cost of education,
that was first on my list. Cost of education is very critical. When
it's stable, and as I said I've been doing this for 24 years so I've
watched it, especially in California public schools, it was stable for
a long time, growing primarily in the non-fee areas, and then the
State of California ran into some economic difficulty and pulled
funds back from the public universities and suddenly the fees took
off. And, it changed the environment dramatically, and that's
where the loans took off and it became a very different world. We
became almost like publiclprivates. As I say, we were like the pri-
vates were 10 years before, we have the fees they had and we have
the problems of financing before.

We have to worry about the enrollment. What size the enroll-
ment is, how much the needy students are, what's the available
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funds? These are institutional things we are considering, what the
prior year experience was. I base a great deal of next year upon
last year. What happened, did we meet their needs? Did we run out
of money too early? Did we give them too much loan? Did we han-
dle specific groups of students well or not? Then, looking at that
we roll forward with our policies and our packages.

And, we have to evaluate what the support is from the State. Al-
most all institutions, at least in California, almost all institutions
get some form of State aid, be that direct State aid, in terms of
grants, or subsidies, as we have at the State university, but most
of the private schools all receive quite a bit of State grant.

The campus philosophy is very important, and the age of the stu-
dent body. We talked about independent students. Well, if a large
number of students are independent, either graduate or older stu-
dents, then that changes what money we have available for them.

We talked about campus financial aid a little bit, and campus-
based aid is a term that usually applies to the three campus-based
Federal programs. The Federal SEOG grant program, the Federal
work study program, and the Federal Perkins loan program. These
are three Federal programs that are campus-based as opposed, for
instance, to the Pell Grant program, which is not campus-based,
centrally-based. These programs have had considerable review, in
terms of some administrations or another wanting to get rid of
them. Actually, it's happened quite often over the years, and I
would like to speak in favor of the campus-based programs. Those
three, as other colleagues have said to me as recently as today, we
have to be very careful not to lose these programs. They are the
flexibility, even though they are relatively small, they are the flexi-
bility we need to meet our students' needs.

The work study program itself, which has been level funded for
a long time, or maybe even lost funds, is considered by many peo-
ple to be the best financial aid program that we have, and yet, the
support has not been there to agree with that. The reason why it's
the best is because many of our students have no experience work-
ing. They get work experience, it avoids further debt, and it's a
subsidized program for them to work, so it works out very well.
Many employers want them.

In terms of campus-based aid that the campuses generate, we
have a term in California that's not used elsewhere, but it's called
return to aid. One of the things that the committee may not be
aware of is, a lot of the money that goes into student aid that's in-
stitutional money is actually part of the fee money or tuition money
paid by the other students. So, it's money that's sort of recirculated
from tuition and fees back into funding needy students, which has
a lot to do with the cost of education, by the way, another one of
those.

So, and that's true in private schools as well as in public schools.
Another topic I was going to hit on is professional judgment,

commonly called as PJ in financial aid, it's one of those other buzz
words. The financial aid community is very supportive of having
professional judgment. We encounter individual personal cir-
cumstances that are as unique as every person in this country. We
have people who are having domestic violence, divorce, unemploy-
ment, and many, many personal circumstances that don't allow the
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formula-based system to meet their needs. That is why these pro-
grams work very well, because on the local level the financial aid
administrator can meet the needs of the student and their family.

So, professional judgment, which was actually incorporated into
the law, is an excellent tool for us to make national programs effec-
tive at the local level. That's an important one.

My last couple comments are just to list some national issues
that from my perspective are out there. The first one was the grant
loan imbalance, two thirds of our aid are loans now in a public in-
stitution. I think that's pretty easy to see that's not a good balance.
There's a considerable debate about the need analysis system, that
is, the congressional-controlled system for determining family con-
tribution, and there's considerable debate in the higher education
community, particularly the financial community, about that sys-
tem and whether it's effective or not. The ongoing debate about the
PELL and direct loans, I think that will be very intense in the near
future, and reauthorization will add to that. The processing delays
that we experienced, and it's fair to note that we're catching up
now, but we did have significant processing delays.

In conclusion, I have one important message I want to make sure
you hear from me, and that is that the financial aid programs are
working very well. They are difficult, they are complex, people's
eyes glaze over when you start talking about need analysis, pack-
aging, funding and everything. But, the real thing that happens is
when a student walks across that counter, or to our desk, and they
are able to go and be educated. They came from families where
that would have never been possible without financial aid's help.

So, what you do and what all of us do together is extremely im-
portant. I hope we would always remember that, remember those
students and those families.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Rutter follows:]

STATEMENT OF THOMAS M. RUTTER

Honorable Chairman Mr. McKeon and Distinguished Members of the US House
of Representatives, Subcommittee on Postsecondary Education, Training and Life-
Long Learning.

Thank you for the opportunity to speak before your committee this afternoon. I
have submitted 150 packets of my testimony and attachments for your further ref-
erence.

By way of introduction, I offer three profiles; one of myself, one of San Francisco
State University and one of our financial aid programs.
Personal Profile

I have 24 years of campus service in the field of student financial aid. I am cur-
rently the San Francisco State University (SFSU) Director of Financial Aid. I am
in my second year in this position. I have recently also been appointed as the SFSU
Senior Director of Enrollment Services responsible for Admissions, Registration,
Outreach, Financial Aid and the Educational Opportunity Program.

For the previous 21 years, I served as the Financial Aid Director at the University
of California, San Diego and for two years before San Diego I was the Associate Di-
rector at University of California, Davis. As an advisor, I have worked with all the
segments of higher education including private universities, community colleges and
proprietary schools.

I have held the professional leadership position of President of the Western Asso-
ciation of Student Financial Aid Administrators (WASFAA) and two terms as the
Vice President of that organization. I served as a board member of the National As-
sociation of Student Financial Aid Administrators (NASFAA) for three terms. In
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1980, I participated with a small group of financial aid administrators to develop
ideas for the Reauthorization of the Higher Education Act for Senator Pell.

During my career, I have been responsible for awarding approximately $1 billion
in student aid to hundreds of thousands of students.

My educational background includes an MBA and an undergraduate degree in
business. Previous to financial aid, I was a teacher and served in the US Peace
Corps in Malaysia.
SFSU Institutional Profile

Founded as a "State Normal School" in 1899, today San Francisco State Univer-
sity is one of the most diverse schools in the nation. For the past several years, the
university has consistently ranked among the top five universities in the U.S. in
graduating under represented students with bachelors degrees. We offer under-
graduate and Masters levels programs to our nearly 27,000 students. Top majors
include Business Administration, Psychology, Biology, English, Film, Radio and TV
and Art.

While our faculty are teachers first, they are award-winners, grant-getters and
discoverers. Professor Geoffrey Marcy and his colleague and SFSU alum Paul Butler
recently announced the third planet they've discovered outside our solar system,
raising new questions of life beyond Earth. MacArthur "genus" and engineering pro-
fessor Ralph Hotchkiss has attracted world-wide attention for his empowerment of
disabled people around the world by teaching .them to build their own low cost
wheelchairs using local materials. Anthropology professor Phillipe Bourgois is mak-
ing waves with his new book on the urban crack cocaine culture.

Notable SFSU alumni include the new mayor of San Francisco, Willie Brown; ac-
tress Annette Bening, conductor Kent Nagano and Congressman Ron Dellums, to
name only a few.

SFSU is part of the 22 campus California State University system which enrolls
over 230,000 students and we are the largest senior higher education institution in
the United States.
SFSU Student Financial Aid Profile

SFSU receives over 27,000 applications for financial aid each year using the Free
Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) or the renewal if they have applied
in previous years.

When the school selection process is over and the evaluations of the financial aid
applications are complete, over 15,000 students are actually awarded each year.
SFSU students received approximately $93 million in financial aid in 1995-96.

Grants from a variety of sources made up $31 million of this total. These funds
do not have to be repaid. The three loan programs totaled $60 million. Work-study
was only $1.8 million.

While student debt has increased dramatically, over 88.8 percent of SFSU stu-
dents who have borrowed student loans in the past have repaid or are repaying
their loans on time.

The SFSU cost of education for a California resident is $12,382. This includes
$2,000 in fees. The remainder is room and board, books and supplies, transportation
and personal expenses.
Role of the Financial Aid Administrator

The role of the campus financial aid administrator is one of the most diverse and
demanding on the college campus. Because of the high volume of applications and
the importance of timely awarding, the aid administrator must be an effective pro-
duction manager.

Because of the quantity and complexity of the various state, federal, institutional
and private aid programs, the aid administrator must be a capable program admin-
istrator. Parents and students must reveal to the aid admimstrator the most inti-
mate facts about their lives requiring sensitive counseling skills. Managing millions
of dollars requires the abilities of an accountant and an auditor. Projecting funding
requirements demands skills in statistical analysis and fund management. Because
these programs are regulated by the federal and state governments, the aid admin-
istrator must be the agent for these entities and assure compliance with the govern-
ing regulations. The aid programs are highly computerized which requires the abil-
ity to manage and operate computers. The aid administrator is a student advocate,
working to assure the best service for their students. Because financial aid is key
to the admi$saions decisions to most students, the financial aid administrator is an
information specialist, explaining the intricacies of education, finance and the finan-
cial aid programs.

Few other campus offices are subject to as many audits, administer as much
money or have as much impact on the success or failure of students as the financial
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aid office. Few offices can threaten the well being of an institution of higher edu-
cation as much as the financial aid office. Few offices provide support to as many
students.
Serving Students

The financial aid office serves students in the following ways:
1. Provide financial aid application and eligibility information to junior high,

high school and community college students and their parents.
2. Distribute financial aid applications to students and parents.
3. Collect supporting documents such as the family's IRS forms.
4. Verify at least 30 percent of the student applications which have been se-

lected by the federal processor to assure application information is correct. Ad-
just expected family contributions and awards as necessary.

6. Package awards to students of the various aid types according to a equi-
table formula. Send award letters and promissory notes.

6. Evaluate and decide on solutions for special circumstances and appeals
from students and their parents.

7. Monitor students' academic progress, unit load, prior debt, holds, defaults
and academic performance.

8. Provide personal counseling to students and parents regarding their fi-
nances and relative family circumstances.

9. Provide workshops and publications to assist students in completing the
student aid application process.

10. Refer students to other offices such as housing.
How We Package Financial Aid

"Packaging" is the process of establishing a student's eligibility for specific finan-
cial aid grant, loan and work programs. Students are offered a package of grants,
loans and work because there is insufficient grant aid to meet all the students' eligi-
bility or "need." The first step in packaging is to establish award policies which
award limited grant funds to a large number of students. Once grant funds are as-
signed, loan and work funds are used to meet the students' remaining need.

Packaging policies often prioritize grant eligibility for students with specific char-
acteristics. Often, grant eligibility increases as family available resources decrease.
Frequently, grant funding is larger for entering students and is reduced as a stu-
dent progresses through their education. Packages for late applications are usually
less desirable than those for on-time students.

In order to prepare for packaging each year, the aid administrator must complete
numerous planning steps. He/she must review prior year spending patterns to deter-
mine if goals have been met and if adjustments are required for the next year. Were
all the funds disbursed? Did spending exceed projections? Were targeted students
served according to plans? Who was not served well? Has the institutional emphasis
changed and are we keeping up with these changes?

If the cost of education increases rapidly, will there be an adequate increase in
grant funds? If not, how will the "gap be funded? What students will suffer from
packaging changes and how can their difficulties be reduced?

Increased educational costs result in increases in the demand for financial aid.
When grant funds are not sufficient to meet increased need, students are packaged
with additional loan funds and student debt grows.

Available funds must be determined or projected prior to packaging. Student
awarding must often precede the official allocations of funds from the state and fed-
eral governments and the institution. Preliminary student awards are often made
early and may be adjusted later when actual funding is known. Many institutions
use income from tuition and fees to fund their financial aid programs. This "return
to aid" process creates grant funds for student packages.

Enrollment projections determine the number of students attending the campus.
Based on prior years experience, the aid administrator projects how many students
will require financial aid support.
Campus Based Aid

The three financial aid programs that are called "campus based" are the Federal
Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant (SEOG), the Federal Perkins Loan
and the Federal Work Study programs. These federally funded programs are called
"campus based" because the funds are allocated to the campuses and award eligi-
bility is campus determined.

The Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants are awarded to low
income students. As grants, these funds do not have to be repaid. Funding is rel-
atively low compared to Pell Grants or institutional funds.
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Each campus has the collection responsibilities for the Perkins Loans they pro-
vided to their students. The campus uses collection revenue to lend to current year
students. Perkins loans have a low interest rate of 5 percent without a guarantee
fee.

The Federal Work Study program uses federal funds to supplement wages for stu-
dents to work on and off the campus. Considered by many aid administrators the
best student aid program because of the valuable work experience gained by stu-
dents and reduced student debt when compared to student loans. Work Study is
grossly under funded and under emphasized in the federal student aid plan.

The three campus based federal programs are targeted carefully to students with
high need and exceptional circumstances. Funding is limited for these programs. At
SFSU, the campus based programs total $5.1 million while the entire student aid
program exceeds $93 million. However, because of the flexibility of these programs,
they provide help to needy students who do not meet the stricter, national criteria
of the other aid programs.

The larger federal student aid programs are the Stafford and PLUS loans and the
Pell Grants. The Stafford and PLUS loan programs may be funded by private banks
or federally funded through direct loans. Of the $93 million of student aid at SFSU,
$60 million is in Stafford Loans, the largest aid program, and almost $1 million is
in PLUS loans. Interest rates for Stafford loans are variable with a cap of 8.25 per-
cent. PLUS loans have a variable interest rate with a 9 percent cap.

The Federal Pell Grant program is the nation's largest grant program. SFSU pro-
vided $12 million of the $93 million total aid program in Pell Grants this year.
Institutional Factors

The key institutional factors relative to the financial aid process are:
1. The institution's Cost of Education.
2. The size of the institution and the number and percentage of needy stu-

dents.
3. The availability of funds and the mix of grants and loans.
4. If the institution is publicly or privately funded.
5. The level of state support for the institution.
6. The academic programs.
7. The campus philosophy regarding needy students.
8. The level of endowment and alumni support for students.
9. The opportunity for students to work on and off campus.

Professional Judgment
Professional Judgment or "PJ" as aid administrators call it, is the use of the aid

administrators judgment to make individual student exceptions to the rules and reg-
ulations governing the student aid programs. This authority is given to the aid ad-
ministrator in the Higher Education Act, Section 49A(a).

Using professional judgment, the aid administrator determines their response to
student's and parent's unique circumstances. Students and parents appeal to the fi-
nancial aid office for exceptions to policy and procedures. The aid administrator re-
quires documentation to support the appeal.

Examples of professional judgment appeals include decreasing the expected paren-
tal contribution due complex family circumstances such as changing marital status,
modifying the student's satisfactory academic progress requirement due to changing
major, or specific issues regarding the income or assets of the student or parents
such as loss of job.

A vast majority of students do not require the use of PJ. Most students apply,
are awarded and do not need special attention. However, those who do appeal and
who have special circumstances, involve complex counseling and analysis.

Professional Judgment is the key to the successful implementation of national
programs on a local level. It makes the federal financial aid programs effective in
supporting higher education for the nation's youth.
Major National Issues in Financial Aid

The most pressing issue in student aid in the 1990s is insufficient grant funding
and increased student debt. There has been a dramatic increase in student debt
over the past 5 or 6 years and the impact on our society and individual Americans
has not been assessed.

The need analysis process which determines the expected family contribution is
being intensely debated. The federal government determines the methodoloc" to cal-
culate family contributions for federal, most state and most public school aid. A
group of aid administrators believe the federal system does not sufficiently deter-
mine a family's ability to contribute to the student's cost of education and wish to
change the need analysis methodology to include such items as the equity in the
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family's primary residence. Other fundamental changes are being sought by these
aid administrators.

The conflict over the Federal Stafford Loan program is a debate over who should
provide the capital for loans and who should run the loan programs, private lending
institutions with secondary market companies such as Sallie Mae or, the federal
government with government contractors. The Federal Family Education Loan
(FFEL) is the bank program for Stafford Loans and the William D. Ford Federal
Direct Loan (direct loans) is the federal government's program. Many proposals have
been made to eliminate one or the other of these programs or to limit these pro-
grams to a specific percentage of the nation's loan volume.

Reauthorization of the federal student aid Higher Education Act is beginning.
This process will bring all aspects of the federal student aid programs into debate
and review. The interested parties such as the lending institutions, secondary mar-
kets and guarantee agencies as well as the supporters of the direct loan program
will be advocating for their position.

Processing delays of the 1996-97 award year have caused a great deal of concern
at the campus level. Financial aid application processing by the federal contractor
is significantly behind last year. Awards have been delayed at many colleges. Stu-
dents and parents do not know the level of support they can count on when attend-
ing school this fall.
Conclusion

Thank you for the opportunity to introduce you to the world of student financial
aid. Though financial aid is complex and various aspects are the subject of intense
debates, you may be confident that millions of students in this country are benefit-
ing from the student aid programs. Most of these students are completing their de-
gree objectives, finding employment and repaying their student loans. They have be-
come productive citizens of this country and their success is often due to the oppor-
tunity provided to them through student financial aid.
List of Attachments

I have provided a set of attachments for your review and information. The attach-
ments are:

1. A SFSU Financial Aid information brochure.
2. The federal government publication, The Student Aid Guide.
3. A Free Application for Federal Student Aid with SFSU "wrap around."
4. A SFSU 1996-97 Offer Letter Guide.
5. A SFSU 1996-97 Financial Aid Offer.
6. A William D. Ford Federal Direct Student Loan Program loan packet.
7. A SFSU Financial Aid Account Statement and Check.

Chairman MCKEON. Thank you very much.
Ms. Woolsey.
Ms. WOOLSEY. Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I'm sorry I wasn't here to give my opening statement, but I want

to tell you that I think this has been one of the most interesting
hearings I've attended as a Member of the House of Representa-
tives.

I have so many questions that I'm going to probably just talk in-
stead of ask questions. But, I would, like to make a suggestion.
Each one of the gentlemen and Ms. Schenet should be a panel of
their own. I mean, each time they talked I learned that I knew
very little, and there was more for us to get into on every one of
these issues and these questions.

So, I ask you to work with me and the next Congress, as we go
along, and before we do our reauthorization, let's get below the sur-
face and bring in panels of people on each one of these questions,
because you've been excellent and it's been very wonderful.

Mr. Rutter, two of my children graduated from San Francisco
State.

Mr. RUTTER. Wonderful.
Ms. WOOLSEY. They have a different last name than I do, so you

wouldn't know them, but you also wouldn't know them because
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they were fortunate enough not to need a grant or a student loan.
But I really do believe if they were in school now and its just been
six years since the last one graduated, they probably would, and
that's how things have changed that quickly.

Mr. RUTTER. They have.
Ms. WOOLSEY. I consider my own education to be one of my most

important assets. A lot of you know this, but I'm going to say it
again. Twenty eight years ago I was a divorced working mother
and I had three small children. They were one, three and five years
old. We were without child support, and even though I was work-
ing I was on aid for dependent children, so that I could make up
the difference in the child care and the health care and the food
that they needed.

But, I always knew that I would be able to get off of welfare be-
cause I had good work experience, my children and I were healthy,
and I was assertive. You know that. But, most importantly, I had
an education. My experience with the welfare system serves as my
foundation, actually, for my commitment to higher education.

I see education as the key to many, many of the problems we
face in this Nation, because with a good education more families
will be able to leave welfare, leave welfare for good. And, for heav-
en's sake, we'd prevent families from going on welfare in the first
place.

With an education beyond high school, more American workers
will be prepared for high-tech, high-skilled, high-wage jobs of the
future. Higher education means jobs that pay a liveable wage, and
that means safer, saner communities.

The problem is that higher education is becoming less and less
available, as we've heard today, to average Americans. I don't know
how many of you have seen this week's Newsweek magazine, or if
you've read the series on the costs of education? Mr. Chairman, I'd
like to ask unanimous consent to allow this article to be included
in the record for today. On the cover it reads, "$1,000 a Week, the
Scary Costs of College." Well, who is going to be able to afford that?

The articles inside describe students and their families who are
afraid they won't be able to afford to pay for higher education, so
they are not even making the effort to prepare themselves to go
forward. Or, there are families like one mentioned in this article,
which is counting on winning the lottery before their daughter be-
gins college. Well, we all know that's not going to work, that's ridic-
ulous.

So, Mr. Chairman, I look forward to working with you. I look for-
ward to hearing each one of these panel members and witnesses
over and over again in the next year before we reauthorize the
Higher Education Act. I think we should start right now planning
for what we are going to be doing next year, and to make sure that
we can have education available for every American.

I have a little bit of time left, so I'm going to ask you, if you
would, what would be your advice to families who want their chil-
dren to go to children, what's the most important thing for them
to be doing?

Mr. RUTTER. Don't give up hope.
Ms. WOOLSEY. Don't give up hope.
Doctor Nettles?
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Mr. NETTLES. Plan early, don't be wavered from your direction.
That is, even if you think it's too costly, that it probably is a worth-
while investment. The payoffs at the end are great, so I would be
encouraging.

Ms. WOOLSEY. Ms. Schenet?
Ms. SCHENET. Well, I think my testimony illustrates that there

are a variety of choices, and that people have to look at the choices
that are available to them and make a decision about the kind of
enrollment that they think is appropriate.

Ms. WOOLSEY. Mr. Childers?
Mr. CHILDERS. Academically prepare, take the high level high

school courses that will prepare you for a successful high school
graduation and enable you to succeed in college. Financing is im-
portant, but unless you are focused on that and want to prepare
yourself, you are not going to have the greatest chances of succeed-
ing. So, I'd say preparation academically as well as financially is
vital.

Ms. WOOLSEY. Good, thank you.
Mr. Secretary?
Mr. LONGANECKER. I'd almost say all of the above. What I'd say

is, plan early if you don't plan late, because, you know, the best
time to plant a tree is 30 years ago, the second best is now. I think
people shouldn't give up, they should plan. I mean, if families have
a child today they ought to be trying to save for that child's edu-
cation. If they didn't do that, and their child is going to college next
year, then there is a way to do it, it's not going to be as easy, but
it's going to be possible with struggle, and it's certainly worth the
investment.

There is no investment that will makethere is no ways to get
returns on an investment like you will get on investing in edu-
cation.

Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you all.
Thank you again, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman McKEON. Thank you.
Mr. Green?
Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I don't have any questions, just some comments.
Mr. Childers, not only is our subcommittee interested, but our

full committee might also be interested in the numbers you stated
in your testimony, and the average SAT score based on the higher
level for math. With all the concern we've seen for the last, well,
last 20 years, on quality of education and the success of it, we could
spend a lot of time talking about what the States are doing, wheth-
er it be Goals 2000 or other things.

But, I know that's not the purpose of the hearing, Mr. Chairman.
I'm glad you called the hearing because it shows that loans are in-
creasing and grants are either staying constant or decreasing. With
the increasing costs of education, the Congress should consider in-
creasing Federal grants which are now a small part of the financial
aid package. Mr. Rutter points to this in his testimony.

This Congress we've seen our Majority target student loans in
their attempt to balance the budget, even though these costs would
have little impact. In the next Congress, we need to consider that
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grants continue to decrease and the cost of education continues to
increase, and the only option available to students are loans.

We've heard this many times, that if we don't make college both
affordable and available, then 10 years from now we are going to
regret it. This should be an investment issue. The best investment
is in your additional education or your children's additional edu-
cation. I hope that Members will take this from the hearing today,
Mr. Chairman.

I just appreciate the chance to be here today.
Chairman McKE0N. Thank you.
This is just the first of many of these hearings. I hope Ms. Wool-

sey didn't scare you thinking we would ask you to come back many
times.

Ms. WOOLSEY. Why not, they are great.
Chairman McKEoisr. They are, but I know what it's like flying

across the country, and I know you do have a lot of other things.
But, we will have other people that will be addressing the same or
similar subjects as we focus in on this.

I have a couple of questions. You mentioned in packaging loans
there was no mention, or at least I didn't pick it up, of the parent
loans. Is this growing?

Mr. RUTTER. The PLUS loan volume is definitely growing nation-
ally, though, in the public institutions it has not really grown too
much yet, because our other funds, we package enough of our other
funds to meet the need.

But, in the higher-cost institutions, the PLUS volume is growing
tremendously. It's in part because of the change of the regulations,
and in part because the cost of education has now tripped up all
the other programs and what's left is the PLUS volume.

But, it's a very good program, too. It's essential to the package.
Chairman McK.E0N. Do you find that the students, when they

get up to their maximum, then go to the parents and work out a
deal with them, the loan is made to the parents, but many times
they are planning the students to repay the loan?

Mr. RUTTER. Yes.
Chairman McKEori. You said that work study you think is the

best of these programs. I would really tend to agree with you on
that. I think where people work for what they get, there's more ap-
preciation and they are just happier or realize more what they are
getting.

Plus, I think the other side, like you say, they are getting work
habits, work experience, along with it. So maybe that's an area
that we should really look at to see if in areas where we can plus
up, that would, I know, fit my philosophy better than just give
away programs.

You said you've had four audits in the last 15 months?
Mr. RUTTER. Yes.
Chairman MCKEON. Is that typical?
Mr. RurrER. I'd say it's about double typical, but it's painful. We

came out of them all well. It's important.
Chairman McKEID/i. I'm just wondering if that's really necessary.
Mr. RUTTER. They were not all Federal-based audits, important

to point out, because the Federal Government really audits us once
a year, that is the standard. And, I believe it is necessary, and
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though it's not that I enjoy them, but I think it's important to keep
track of this money. There's tremendous amounts of money going
on.

Chairman MCKEON. I'm a firm believer in keeping track of
money, I'm just wondering if sometimes you spend more to keep
track of it than what the benefit you are getting out of it. Audits
can be very expensive, and if you have four in a 15-month period
you are using up a lot of people that could be helping generate stu-
dent help, rather than just doing something you've already done.

Do you feel, and I'd like all of you to kind of address this, I know
I've heard of studies that say that all of the student loans, and the
grants, may be one of the thingsor may be one of the biggest
things in driving the cost of education, do you have any comments
on that?

Mr. CHILDERS. Mr. Chairman, I addressed that, not in my oral
testimony, but in my written testimony, and on Figure 7, and I
would say the history of the last 15 years really doesn't show that
conclusion.

At the time of the highest growth of prices in the 1980s and early
1990s, the proportion of Federal student aid as a part of that was
declining, so they were not in parallel, they were not in a direct
relationship. As a matter of fact, it was an inverse relationship. So,
I do not think you can conclude that student aid is driving or al-
lowing institutions to increase their tuition.

Chairman MCKEON. Any other comments? Doctor?
Mr. NETTLES. I think that's a very good question to always ask,

but I think it's also important to note that there are other factors
that contribute to why institutions raise their costs. Part of it has
to do with the cost of products and services that they purchase, and
also their interest in maintaining or increasing the level of quality
in the education that they provide.

I happen to be in an institution, University of Michigan, that is
considered to be a high-cost institution.

Chairman MCKEON. What are your rates?
Mr. NETTLES. Well, we're probably the highest cost public insti-

tution in the country, in terms of tuition.
Chairman MCKEON. What is the tuition?
Mr. NETTLES. I think it's probablyI better ask, it's about

$12,000 in State, and our out of State is probably
Chairman MCKEON. That's your annual tuition?
Mr. NETTLES. Yes.
Chairman MCKEON. Excluding
Mr. NETTLES. I'm not prepared to tell you the exact numbers, but

when we look at and compare ourselves with other institutions
across the country, we are among the highest cost public, and we
also charge in State students pretty high expenses, relatively
speaking, as well.

But, we also think that we try to offer a high-quality product. It's
never thought of in terms of how much aid students can bring to-
ward the tuition that's offered.

Mr. LONGANECKER. Mr. Chairman, if I might contribute on this.
I know the Secretary is very concerned about whether there is a
price effect to our changes in student aid. When we increase, when
we ask for an increase in student aid, we, like you, are hoping that
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that's going to reduce the net price to the student, rather than to
assisting the institution. And yet, trying to balance that with rec-
ognizing that the principalI mean, this is a Federal concern and
a Federal interest and priority, but it's not, in some respects, a
Federal responsibility, the pricing of higher education, that's sort
of up to the States and the institutions.

And so, we'll be working with you over the next year to try to
fashion policy that tries to make sure we aren't contributing to the
escalation of costs, but is respectful of the appropriate Federal role,
reflecting all the time that when we put in a precious dollar in this
environment we want it to go for the purposes for which it was in-
tended.

Chairman McKE0N. Yes.
Mr. RUTTER. If I could make two points on this, Mr. Chairman.

We do offer new services on the campuses that were not really
there before, and I'm pointing out, specifically, health services.
Many of us offer very comprehensive health services to our stu-
dents.

Chairman McKEoN. Included in the tuition?
Mr. RUTTER. For no additional cost.
And also, safety concerns. Some years ago, having a full-fledged

police force on campus was not necessary.
Chairman McK.EoN. Then we are not really comparing apples to

apples.
Mr. RUTTER. Exactly.
Chairman McKE0N. If you took the same services that you deliv-

ered five years ago, 10 years ago, compared to what you are charg-
ing now, and looked at inflation rates, I think that's an important
thing that we'll have to look at, too.

Mr. RUTTER. The third service is in computers, because we are
trying to move into the 1990s, and we're developing computer labs
and computer access in the dormitories and computer access every-
where. So, that's a very expensive endeavor that is also part of
what we are talking about.

My other point is that, the public schools, though they've had in-
creases in percentages of cost, the actual dollar amount of the costs
are not that high, and I believe Ms. Schenet said 75 percent of the
students attend either community college or public schools, four-
year schools?

Ms. SCHENET. Yes.
Mr. RUTTER. The 75 percent of our students are attending insti-

tutions where there may have been a significant increase in cost,
in terms of fees, but we are at $2,000 a year.

Chairman MCKEON. Those were some interesting figures, be-
cause I think a lot of times, you know, you get the perception that
all schools now are getting up to $30,000, $40,000 a year, and I
guess that really isn t the case. We'll have to look over those fig-
ures.

But, there's a wide range then of discrepancy when you go to
$2,000, then what is Stanford now, just down the street?

Mr. RLTTT'll. Stanford is ahrit, for just their fees alone. T believe
they are getting close to $20,000.

Mr. CHILDERS. Mr. Chairman, I think I had that in one of my
charts, showing that only 3 percent of the institutions of higher
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education are at a level of tuition and fees of over $20,000 a year,
whereas, the average four-year public is only $2,800 a year. So,
there is just a wide range, and I think that all has to be taken into
account when you look at the cost situation.

Chairman MCKE0N. I'm glad to see that, because, like I say, the
perception has been that everything is just skyrocketing.

Yes, Doctor Nettles.
Mr. NErrLEs. Mr. Chairman, I just consulted an expert, Cath-

erine Millet, who is actually a doctoral student at the University
of Michigan, and she told me that her out-of-State fees are $18,000
a year.

Chairman MCKE0N. How much?
Mr. NETTLES. For tuition and fees, and this is for graduates.
Chairman McKEorr. Are how much?
Mr. NErrus. Eighteen thousand dollars a year, just tuition and

fees.
Chairman McKEIDN. One year?
Mr. NETTLES. One year.
Chairman McKEIDN. That's for out of State. And, what, you were

saying the in -State was $12,000?
Mr. NETTLES. It's probably something like that, and this will also

vary by major field. So, for some students at the University of
Michigan there are different charges, depending upon actual cost.

Chairman McKE-ON. So, if you are out of State, check your home
State first.

You also, Mr. Rutter, indicated that the age is going up, I think
that you said that you are getting more mature students, I guess
would be the way to say it.

1 spoke at the commencement Saturday of a proprietary college
with 740 graduates. I shook hands with just about all of them, I
think, and they were all older, some of them were older than I am.
I don't think there were any that were in their 20s. I would esti-
mate that every one was over 30. These were mostly in nursing or
in business, business administration, and included some Master's
degrees, and it was very interesting to me.

This particular school, you have to have a job to go there, and
then you go to school at night, and their default rate is 4 percent
on their loans because of, you know, they are very interested in
education by that age. Nobody is, you know, mom and dad aren't
forcing them to go to school.

I really enjoy this committee. I like the title of it, Postsecondary
Education, Training and Lifelong Learning. I didn't graduate until
1985, you know, it took me 30 years, but I think that given our en-
vironment with changing occupations, changing world, I think peo-
ple are going to have to continue their education throughout their
lifetime, and I think that's good, if we could encourage people to
do that.

'You talked about computers, and when I visit elementary
schools, high schools, they almost all have computers now, so I
imagine most of the kids by the time they get to college now, they
are getting pretty literate on computers, it's just, I guess, what you
are doing is taking them from this level to this level.

Mr. RurrER. They're ahead of us.
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Chairman McK.E0N. Yes. But, how do we work together, now this
is a little bit out of your field, but I'll use your expertise while you
are here, to get people to pull together at the elementary and sec-
ondary levels, so that when they get to the postsecondary level they
are able to read, write, know math and, you know, come in at a
higher level so you can move them up rather than have to do so
much remedial work? Mr. Secretary?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Well, you gave me too much of an in-road
there. I mean, we would logically say that what you try to do is,
you try to think about having high standards for all students, and
encourage local school districts to basically strive to high standards
for all students, and that the Federal activity could help to com-
plement that, however that might work.

An excellent model is the Equity 2000 program that The College
Board has promoted, because what they are doing there is, they are
takingthey know how important fundamentals in math are to
fundamentals in other forms of academic preparation and involve-
ment, and through that program they've made a big difference.

But, we, I think, would encourage, basically, the Federal Govern-
ment in its modest role in elementary and secondary to encourage
local school districts to really strive to high levels and not just to
high levels for the best of the students, but for all students.

Mr. NErFLES. Mr. Chairman, I'd like to add, and I agree with
David very much and whatever John Childers says about academic
preparation, but there's another element, and that is social and
personal responsibility, because when it comes to default rates we
often speak of institutions being in default, when, in fact, institu-
tions have somewhat limited responsibility, or limited actual influ-
ence upon encouraging students to default.

Chairman McKE0N. The institution doesn't default on the indi-
vidual's loan.

Mr. NErrLES. Exactly, and I think that may be something you'd
want to think about, making a distinction betweenamong prior
reauthorization Acts and future ones, in that regard, because in
many, I don't know of very many institutions that arein fact, I
don't know any that are encouraging students not to pay back their
loans.

Chairman MCKEON. Well, there have been some in the past that
haveI don't think they've done that, but they have, through lack
of doing what they indicated they were going to do when they
signed up the student, have not helped the student to get the edu-
cation. We all know where that's been.

You had a comment?
Mr. CHILDERS. I was going to say, Mr. Chairman, that it's in-

creasingly evident that you have to, colleges, and secondary
schools, and middle schools, have to work more closely together.

We are finding that we are really having increasingly to work
with the middle school level, because you really need to prepare the
students better at the middle school level, so that they are able to
take algebra and geometry at the high school level, also financial
aid counseling and a stimulation, an encouragement and knowl-
edge about it's possible to go to college really needs to start at the
middle school level. It's almost too late in some ways at the high
school level to get some of these things started.
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I think more and more institutions of higher education are work-
ing with their local schools as well, to try and get this message
across, but I think that collaboration and cooperation has to con-
tinue, even more in the future.

Chairman McKEoN. I keep hoping that there's just some simple,
easy answer to this, and it seems to me it all comes back to the
teacher in the classroom. You know, if you get a good teacher at
kindergarten, or you get a good teacher in the first grade, now I'm
assuming that you've got good parents that got them to kinder-
garten, because, you know, a lot of that basic personality and ev-
erything is set before they ever get to school.

But, when I was on the school board, I served nine years on a
high school board, and one of the things that we did is, once a
month at one of our school board meetings we would go around and
visit different schools for our 'meetings, and we would ask for one
portion of the meeting what's good in education this month. And,
I remember one time we were in this setting, and the French
teacher came in and he was dressed like a Catholic cardinal from
France. He was a French teacher, and he gave us a geography les-
son in French. I speak a little Spanish, I don't speak any French,
but I could seeI mean, that's how he started out, and you could
just see what impact that teacher could have on his students.

There was another teacher that taught a lesson on positive atti-
tude, motivation, and he gave an example, I still remember, he
stuck a straw through a potato. I could just see kids, and he taught
five sections of that, he was also the baseball coach, five sections
of, you know, positive attitude and getting a good image of yourself
and being productive in life, five sections were full. They tried to
do that in other schools in the district, and all because of that one
teacher. It wasn't something that he could just get another person
signed up and teach that course, because it had to come from him.
So, it really comes down to individual people that are interested in
helping other individuals, and we can spread that.

It seems like we spend so much time talking about the negative,
what's bad, rather than what's good, and then building on that. I
hope that this will be the start of a series of, as I said, hearings
where we can look into the costs of higher education and what we
can do to help at the Federal level, but I appreciate you all being
here today.

With that, we will adjourn this hearing. Thank you very much.
[Whereupon, at 3:07 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
[Additional material submitted for the record follows.]
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FREDERICK D. PATTERSON

RESEARCH INSTITUTE
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MicriAELT. NE-rites
Executive Director

May 8, 1996

The Honorable Bud McKeon
Chairman, Subcommittee on Postsecondary Education,

Training and Lifetime Learning
230 Ford House Office Building
U.S. House of Representatives
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman,

WaitAm H. ORAL III
President

The College frottl/UNCF

Thank you for inviting me to testify at the April 23 hearing, "Who Plays, WhoPays, Who Goes."

During the question and answer period, I was asked about the tuition costs at the University of
Michigan. At that time I did not have the proper numbers available. The following chart lists the
tuition amounts broken down by class level and residency. I would appreciate this information
being_added. at the appropriate place. to the_hearimurecord.

Tuition & Fees at the University of Michigan, 1995-96

Resident Non-Resident
Fresb/Soph S5.546 Fresh/Soph 817,070
Jr/Senior S6. l 38 Jr/Senior $18,272
Graduate $9,054 Gradmite $18,214

Again, thank you for the opportunity to appear before your Subcommittee. Please do not hesitate
to contact me if I can be of further assistance to you and the committee.

Michael Nettles
Executive Director, Frederick D. Patterson Research Institute and
Professor at University of Michigan School of Education
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Elite colleges carry a $1,000-a-week price tag. Parents are bargaining
over fees in the new academic souk, as ai epic sticker shock shakes the
foundations of higher education. By Tom Morganthau and Seema Nayyar

Those Scary
College Costs
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More Money, Less School
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How did such smart people run up such huge deficits? It took arrogance,
ambition and a faith that the money would flow forever. Now colleges are
struggling to right themselves. By lyntiell Hancock and John McCormick
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